Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: February 3, 2020 ACCEPTED: March 28, 2020 PUBLISHED: May 12, 2020

On-shell heavy particle effective theories

Rafael Aoude,^a Kays Haddad^b and Andreas Helset^b

^a PRISMA⁺ Cluster of Excellence & Institute of Physics, Johannes Gutenberg-Universität Mainz, Staudingerweg 7, Mainz 55099, Germany

^bNiels Bohr International Academy and Discovery Center, Niels Bohr Institute, University of Copenhagen, Blegdamsvej 17, Copenhagen DK-2100, Denmark

E-mail: aoude@uni-mainz.de, kays.haddad@nbi.ku.dk, ahelset@nbi.ku.dk

ABSTRACT: We introduce on-shell variables for Heavy Particle Effective Theories (HPETs) with the goal of extending Heavy Black Hole Effective Theory to higher spins and of facilitating its application to higher post-Minkowskian orders. These variables inherit the separation of spinless and spin-inclusive effects from the HPET fields, resulting in an explicit spin-multipole expansion of the three-point amplitude for any spin. By matching amplitudes expressed using the on-shell HPET variables to those derived from the one-particle effective action, we find that the spin-multipole expansion of a heavy spin-s particle corresponds exactly to the multipole expansion (up to order 2s) of a Kerr black hole, that is, without needing to take the infinite spin limit. Finally, we show that tree-level radiative processes with same-helicity bosons emitted from a heavy spin-s particle exhibit a spin-multipole universality.

KEYWORDS: Black Holes, Effective Field Theories, Scattering Amplitudes

ARXIV EPRINT: 2001.09164





Contents

1	Introduction		2	
2	Effe	ective theories with heavy particles	4	
	2.1	On-shell HPET variables	5	
	2.2	Reparameterization	6	
	2.3	Spin operator	7	
3	Three-point amplitude		8	
	3.1	General residual momentum	9	
	3.2	Zero initial residual momentum	10	
	3.3	Most general three-point amplitude	12	
	3.4	Infinite spin limit	13	
4	Ker	rr black holes as heavy particles	15	
5	On-shell amplitudes		18	
	5.1	Counting \hbar	19	
	5.2	Boson exchange	20	
	5.3	Compton scattering	21	
	5.4	Emission of n bosons	25	
6	Summary and outlook		27	
A	Conventions		29	
в	Uni	iqueness of on-shell HPET variables	31	
С	C Reparameterization and the little group		32	
D	Pro	pagators	34	
	D.1	Spin- s projection operator	36	
\mathbf{E}	Ma	tching to HPET Lagrangians	37	
	E.1	Matching spin-1/2 minimal coupling	37	
	E.2	Matching spin-1 Zeeman coupling	38	

1 Introduction

The relationship between quantum scattering amplitudes and classical physics has enjoyed a surge of attention in recent years, in large part due to the observation of gravitational waves by the LIGO and Virgo collaborations as of 2015 [1]. Motivating studies in this direction has been the realization that perturbative techniques from quantum field theory are well suited to the computation of the complementary post-Newtonian (PN) and post-Minkowskian (PM) expansions of the binary inspiral problem in General Relativity (GR). Indeed, the effective field theory (EFT) of GR [2, 3] has been used extensively to compute classical corrections to the gravitational potential [3–11]. Furthermore, effective-fieldtheoretic methods have been used to develop EFTs for gravitationally interacting objects whose operator expansions are tailored to computing terms in the PN approximation [12– 16]. In fact, using EFT methods, the entire 4PN spinless conservative dynamics were derived in refs. [17, 18], and the computation of the 5PN spinless conservative dynamics was approached in refs. [19, 20]. Including spin, the current state-of-the-art computations from the PN approach were performed in refs. [21, 22] using the EFT of ref. [14].

On the PM side, it has also recently been shown that quantum scattering amplitudes can be used to extract fully relativistic information about the classical scattering process [23–32, 73, 74]. Moreover, a direct relationship between the scattering amplitude and the scattering angle has been uncovered in refs. [33–36].¹ All of these developments suggest that the 2 \rightarrow 2 gravitational scattering amplitude encodes information that is crucial for the understanding of classical gravitational binary systems, to all loop orders [2, 37].

Various methods exist for identifying the classical component of a scattering amplitude [9, 10, 30, 31]. Towards this same end, Heavy Black Hole Effective Theory (HBET) was recently formulated by Damgaard and two of the present authors in ref. [38] with the aim of streamlining the extraction of classical terms from gravitational scattering amplitudes. It was shown there that the operator expansion of HBET is equivalent to an expansion in \hbar . Exploiting this fact, the authors were able to identify which HBET operators can induce classical effects at arbitrary loop order, and the classical portion of the $2 \rightarrow 2$ amplitude was computed up to one-loop order for spins $s \leq 1/2$. These results were obtained using Lagrangians and Feynman diagram techniques which, while tractable at the perturbative orders and spins considered, become non-trivial and computationally unwieldy to extend to higher spins or loop orders. Nevertheless, the separation of classical and quantum effects and the observed separation of spinless and spin-inclusive effects are desirable features of the EFT that will prove quite convenient when cast as part of a more user-friendly formalism.

We aim in this paper to present such a formalism that will allow the extension of HBET to higher spins and to facilitate its application to higher loop orders. A means to do so comes in the formalism presented in ref. [39]. Spinor-helicity variables were presented there that describe the scattering of massive matter with arbitrary spin. Based solely on kinematic considerations, these variables were used to construct the most general three-point amplitude for a massive spin-s particle emitting a massless boson with a given

¹We thank Andrea Cristofoli for bringing earlier work on this relationship to our attention.

helicity.² In this most general amplitude, the term that is best behaved in the UV limit is termed the minimal coupling amplitude. When $s \leq 1/2$ it reduces to the three-point amplitude arising from the relevant Lagrangian that is minimally coupled in the sense of covariantized derivatives. This terminology is preserved for higher spins; the minimal coupling amplitude for a general spin-s particle is a tensor product of 2s factors of spin-1/2 minimal coupling amplitudes. Note that this definition of minimal coupling generally differs from the typical definition from the Lagrangian perspective. Phenomenologically, these minimal coupling amplitudes are those that produce a gyromagnetic ratio of g = 2for all spins [11, 42, 43].

This minimal coupling amplitude has proven to be quite useful in the study of classical Kerr black holes, which have been shown to couple minimally to gravity [10, 11, 25, 32, 44, 45]. Such a description of Kerr black holes is in fact not immediately exact when using the variables of ref. [39] due to the difference between the momenta of the initial and final states, leading to an ill-defined matrix element of the spin-operator. This gap has been overcome using various methods in the above references. However we will show that expressing the degrees of freedom of HBET in on-shell variables reduces the discrepancy to a mere choice of the kinematics. The appropriate kinematics can sometimes be imposed (when a process is described by diagrams with no internal matter lines), but are always recovered in the classical limit; $\hbar \to 0$.

In this paper, we express the asymptotic states of Heavy Particle Effective Theories (HPETs) — the collection of effective field theories treating large mass particles — using the massive on-shell spinor-helicity variables of ref. [39]. An explicit \hbar expansion will arise from these variables, which makes simple the task of taking classical limits of amplitudes. Such an expression of the asymptotic states of HPET will also lead to an explicit separation of spinning and spinless effects in the three-point minimal coupling amplitude. From the lens of the classical gravitational scattering of two spinning black holes, this results in the finding that the asymptotic states of HPET are naturally identified with a Kerr black hole with truncated spin-multipole expansion.

Our construction will also allow us to gain insight into this class of effective field theories. We will derive a conjecture for the three-point amplitude arising from an arbitrary HPET, and posit a form for this same amplitude for heavy matter of any spin. Then, in the appendices, we comment on the link between reparameterization invariance of a momentum and its little group, and finally compute the operator projecting onto a heavy particle of spin $s \leq 2$, the derivation of which can be extended to general spin.

The layout of this paper is as follows. We begin with a very brief review of HPETs in section 2. Also, we introduce on-shell variables that describe the heavy field. The three-point amplitudes of HPETs are analyzed in section 3. In particular, we construct the three-point amplitude of HPET resummed to all orders in the expansion parameter. Furthermore, the construction of ref. [39] provides a method of extending HPET amplitudes to arbitrary spin. In section 4, we interpret the on-shell HPET variables as Kerr black holes

²For alternative approaches to the application of spinor-helicity variables to massive spinning particles see e.g. refs. [40, 41].

with truncated spin-multipole expansions, and show that heavy spin-s particles possess the same spin-multipole expansion as a Kerr black hole, up to the $2s^{\text{th}}$ multipole. This is in contrast to previous work [11, 45], which found that minimally coupled particles possess the same spin multipoles as Kerr black holes only in the infinite spin limit. Section 5 is dedicated to the computation of on-shell amplitudes, and we show the simplicity of taking the classical limit of an amplitude when it is expressed in on-shell HPET variables. The main body of the paper is concluded in section 6. Our conventions are summarized in appendix A. The question of the uniqueness of the constructed variables is addressed in appendix B. We then relate the little group of a momentum p to its invariance under the HPET reparameterization (see section 2) in appendix C. In appendix D we use spin-spolarization tensors for heavy particles to explicitly construct propagators and projection operators for heavy particles with spins $s \leq 2$. We then use these results to conjecture the forms of the projection operators for arbitrary spin. Finally, we describe in appendix E the forms of the spin-1/2 HPET Lagrangians that must be used to match to the on-shell minimal coupling amplitudes. We also show there that the three-point amplitude derived from a Lagrangian for a heavy spin-1 particle is reproduced by the extension of the variables to arbitrary spin in section 3.

2 Effective theories with heavy particles

When describing a scattering process in which the transfer momentum, q^{μ} , is small compared to the mass of one of the scattered particles, m, we can exploit the separation of scales by expanding in the small parameter |q|/m. Heavy Quark Effective Theory (HQET) [46–48] is the effective field theory that employs this expansion in the context of QCD, with HBET being its gravitational analog. Central to the separation of scales is the decomposition of the momentum of the heavy particle as

$$p^{\mu} = mv^{\mu} + k^{\mu}, \qquad (2.1)$$

where v^{μ} is the (approximately constant) four-velocity ($v^2 = 1$) of the heavy particle, and k^{μ} is a residual momentum that parameterizes the energy of the interaction; it is therefore comparable in magnitude to the momentum transfer, $|k^{\mu}| \sim |q^{\mu}|$. When decomposed in this way, the on-shell condition, $p^2 = m^2$, is equivalent to

$$v \cdot k = -\frac{k^2}{2m}.\tag{2.2}$$

As was argued in ref. [38], using results from ref. [30], the residual momentum scales with \hbar in the limit $\hbar \to 0$. We discuss the counting of \hbar in section 5.1.

With some background about the construction and motivation behind HPETs, we introduce in this section on-shell variables that describe spin-1/2 HPET states. Then, the transformation of these variables under a reparameterization of the momentum eq. (2.1) is given. We end the section by defining the spin operator for heavy particles.

2.1 On-shell HPET variables

The spinors $u_v^I(p)$ that describe the particle states of HPET are related to the Dirac spinors $u^I(p)$ via [38]

where I is an SU(2) little group index, and v^{μ} and k^{μ} are defined in eq. (2.1). The operator $P_{+} \equiv \frac{1+\not{p}}{2}$ is the projection operator that projects on to the heavy particle states. Writing the Dirac spinor in terms of massive on-shell spinors $|\mathbf{p}\rangle_{\alpha}$ and $|\mathbf{p}]^{\dot{\alpha}}$, we define on-shell variables for the HPET spinor field:

$$\begin{pmatrix} |\mathbf{p}_v\rangle \\ |\mathbf{p}_v] \end{pmatrix} = \left(\mathbb{I} - \frac{k}{2m} \right) \begin{pmatrix} |\mathbf{p}\rangle \\ |\mathbf{p}| \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.4)

The bold notation for the massive on-shell spinors was introduced in ref. [39], and represents symmetrization over the little group indices. We refer to the on-shell variables of ref. [39] as the traditional on-shell variables, and those introduced here as the on-shell HPET variables. The on-shell HPET variables are labelled by their four-velocity v. We emphasize that the relation between the traditional and HPET on-shell variables is exact in k/m. See appendix A for conventions.

When working with heavy particles, the Dirac equation is replaced by the relation $\psi u_v^I = u_v^I$, which can be seen by multiplying the first equation in eq. (2.3) by ψ . This relates the on-shell HPET variables in different bases through

$$v_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}|\mathbf{p}_{v}]^{\beta} = |\mathbf{p}_{v}\rangle_{\alpha}, \quad v^{\dot{\alpha}\beta}|\mathbf{p}_{v}\rangle_{\beta} = |\mathbf{p}_{v}]^{\dot{\alpha}},$$
(2.5a)

$$[\mathbf{p}_{v}]_{\dot{\alpha}}v^{\dot{\alpha}\beta} = -\langle \mathbf{p}_{v}|^{\beta}, \quad \langle \mathbf{p}_{v}|^{\alpha}v_{\alpha\dot{\beta}} = -[\mathbf{p}_{v}]_{\dot{\beta}}.$$
(2.5b)

We associate the momentum p_v^{μ} with the on-shell HPET spinors, where

$$p_{v} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & |p_{v}\rangle^{I}{}_{I}[p_{v}| \\ |p_{v}]_{I}{}^{I}\langle p_{v}| & 0 \end{pmatrix} = m_{k}\psi, \qquad (2.6)$$

and

$$m_k \equiv \left(1 - \frac{k^2}{4m^2}\right)m. \tag{2.7}$$

We see that the momentum p_v^{μ} is proportional to v^{μ} , regardless of the residual momentum. The momentum p_v^{μ} is related to the momentum p^{μ} through

$$P_{+} p_{v} = P_{+} p P_{+}. \tag{2.8}$$

The on-shell HPET variables naturally describe heavy particles in a context with no antiparticles. To see this, note that the relation between the HPET spinor and the Dirac spinor in eq. (2.4) can be inverted [49]

$$u^{I}(p) = \left(\mathbb{I} - \frac{k}{2m}\right)^{-1} u^{I}_{v}(p)$$

= $\left[1 + \frac{1}{2m}\left(1 + \frac{k \cdot v}{2m}\right)^{-1} (k - k \cdot v)\right] u^{I}_{v}(p).$ (2.9)

In the free theory, this corresponds to the relation between the fields in the full and effective theories once the heavy anti-field has been integrated out by means of its equation of motion. Thus, eq. (2.3) is equivalent to integrating out heavy anti-particle states.

2.2 Reparameterization

There is an ambiguity in the choice of v and k in the decompositon of the momentum in eq. (2.1). The momentum is invariant under reparameterizations of v and k of the forms

$$(v,k) \to (w,k') \equiv \left(v + \frac{\delta k}{m}, k - \delta k\right),$$
 (2.10)

where $|\delta k|/m \ll 1$ and $(v + \delta k/m)^2 = 1$. Given that observables can only depend on the total momentum, observables computed in heavy particle effective theories must be invariant under this reparameterization [49–51]. In particular, the *S*-matrix is reparameterization invariant.

The on-shell HPET variables transform under the reparameterization of the momentum in eq. (2.10). The HPET spinors $u_v^I(p)$ and $u_w^I(p)$ are related through

$$u_{v}^{I}(p) = \frac{1+\cancel{p}}{2}u^{I}(p)$$
$$= \frac{1+\cancel{p}}{2}\left[1 + \frac{1}{2m}\left(1 + \frac{k' \cdot w}{2m}\right)^{-1}(\cancel{p}' - k' \cdot w)\right]u_{w}^{I}(p),$$
(2.11)

where the second line is simply eq. (2.9) with $(v, k) \to (w, k')$. Rewriting this in terms of the on-shell HPET variables, we find

$$|\mathbf{p}_{v}\rangle = \left(1 - \frac{k^{\prime 2}}{4m^{2}}\right)^{-1} \left[\left(1 - \frac{k^{2}}{4m^{2}} + \frac{k\delta k}{4m^{2}}\right) |\mathbf{p}_{w}\rangle - \frac{\delta k}{2m} |\mathbf{p}_{w}| \right], \qquad (2.12a)$$

$$|\mathbf{p}_{v}] = \left(1 - \frac{k^{2}}{4m^{2}}\right)^{-1} \left[\left(1 - \frac{k^{2}}{4m^{2}} + \frac{k\delta k}{4m^{2}}\right) |\mathbf{p}_{w}] - \frac{\delta k}{2m} |\mathbf{p}_{w}\rangle \right].$$
(2.12b)

Similarly,

$$\langle \mathbf{p}_{v} | = \left(1 - \frac{k^{\prime 2}}{4m^{2}}\right)^{-1} \left[\langle \mathbf{p}_{w} | \left(1 - \frac{k^{2}}{4m^{2}} + \frac{\delta \not{k} \not{k}}{4m^{2}}\right) + \left[\mathbf{p}_{w} | \frac{\delta \not{k}}{2m}\right], \quad (2.12c)$$

$$[\mathbf{p}_{v}] = \left(1 - \frac{k^{2}}{4m^{2}}\right)^{-1} \left[[\mathbf{p}_{w}] \left(1 - \frac{k^{2}}{4m^{2}} + \frac{\delta k k}{4m^{2}}\right) + \langle \mathbf{p}_{w}| \frac{\delta k}{2m} \right].$$
(2.12d)

The transformed spinors $|\mathbf{p}_w\rangle$ and $|\mathbf{p}_w|$ are related to the traditional on-shell variables via eq. (2.4), with the replacement $k \to k'$. This transformation is singular at the point where the new residual momentum has magnitude squared $k'^2 = 4m^2$. This pole is ubiquitous when using these variables, and signals the point where fluctuations of the matter field are energetic enough to allow for pair-creation. As we have integrated out the anti-particle through eq. (2.3), such energies are outside the region of validity of this formalism. In fact, the working assumption of the formalism is that the residual momentum is small compared to the mass, so one would expect the formalism to lose predictive power well before this point.

2.3 Spin operator

We identify the spin operator with the Pauli-Lubanski pseudovector,

$$S^{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2m} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} p_{\nu} J_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (2.13)$$

where $J^{\mu\nu}$ is the generator of rotations, p^{μ} is the momentum with respect to which the operator is defined, and $m^2 = p^2$. For our purposes, it will be convenient to choose $p^{\mu} = p_v^{\mu}$: this ensures that, irrespective of the value of the residual momentum, the momentum $p_v^{\mu} = m_k v^{\mu}$ will always be orthogonal to the spin operator. Thus, S^{μ} is the spin vector of a particle with velocity v^{μ} and any value of residual momentum. With this choice for the reference momentum, the spin-operator is

$$S^{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} v_{\nu} J_{\alpha\beta}.$$
 (2.14)

Its action on irreducible representations of $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ is

$$(S^{\mu})_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = \frac{1}{4} \left[(\sigma^{\mu})_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} v^{\dot{\alpha}\beta} - v_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} (\bar{\sigma}^{\mu})^{\dot{\alpha}\beta} \right], \qquad (2.15a)$$

$$(S^{\mu})^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}} = -\frac{1}{4} \left[(\bar{\sigma}^{\mu})^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} v_{\alpha\dot{\beta}} - v^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} (\sigma^{\mu})_{\alpha\dot{\beta}} \right].$$
(2.15b)

These two representations of the spin-vector are related via

$$(S^{\mu})_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = v_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}(S^{\mu})^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}}v^{\dot{\beta}\beta}, \quad (S^{\mu})^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}} = v^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}(S^{\mu})_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}v_{\beta\dot{\beta}}.$$
(2.16)

On three-particle kinematics, the spin-vector can be written more compactly by introducing the x factor for a massless momentum q [39],

$$mx\langle q| \equiv [q|p_1, \tag{2.17a}$$

$$\Rightarrow mx^{-1}[q] = \langle q|p_1. \tag{2.17b}$$

Using this, when the initial residual momentum is k = 0, we can re-express the contraction $q \cdot S$ as

$$(q \cdot S)_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = \frac{x}{2} |q\rangle\langle q|,$$
 (2.18a)

$$(q \cdot S)^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}} = -\frac{x^{-1}}{2}|q][q].$$
 (2.18b)

For general initial residual momentum, we find an additional term:

$$(q \cdot S)_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = \frac{1}{4} \left(2x |q\rangle \langle q| + \frac{1}{m} [k, q]_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \right), \qquad (2.19a)$$

$$(q \cdot S)^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}} = -\frac{1}{4} \left(2x^{-1} |q] [q] + \frac{1}{m} [k, q]^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}} \right).$$
(2.19b)

Note that eq. (2.19) reduces to eq. (2.18) when k = 0.

When choosing the reference momentum to be p_v^{μ} , we can identify the spin-vector with the classical spin-vector of a Kerr black-hole with classical momentum $p_{\text{Kerr}}^{\mu} = \frac{m}{m_k} p_v^{\mu}$. This is because the Lorentz generator in eq. (2.13) can be replaced with the black hole spin-tensor $S^{\mu\nu} = J_{\perp}^{\mu\nu}$ which satisfies the condition [14, 52]

$$p^{\mu}_{\text{Kerr}}S_{\mu\nu} = 0, \qquad (2.20)$$

known as the spin supplementary condition.

In ref. [38], the spin vector was defined as

$$S_{v}^{\mu} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \bar{u}_{v}(p_{2}) \gamma_{5} \gamma^{\mu} u_{v}(p_{1}), \qquad (2.21)$$

and it was found that this spin vector satisfied the relation

$$\bar{u}_v(p_2)\sigma^{\mu\nu}u_v(p_1) = -2\epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}v_\alpha S_{\nu\beta}.$$
(2.22)

We can therefore relate these two definitions of the spin vector:

$$S_{v}^{\mu} = \bar{u}_{v}(p_{2})S^{\mu}u_{v}(p_{1}) = -2\langle \mathbf{2}_{v}|S^{\mu}|\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle = 2[\mathbf{2}_{v}|S^{\mu}|\mathbf{1}_{v}].$$
(2.23)

Thus the two definitions are consistent, with one being the one-particle matrix element of the other.

3 Three-point amplitude

We study in this section the on-shell three-point amplitudes of HPET. The main goal here will be to express the most general three-point on-shell amplitude for two massive particles (mass m, spin s) and one massless boson (helicity h) in terms of on-shell HPET variables. Focusing on the minimal coupling portion of such an expression, we will be left with a resummed form of the HPET three-point amplitude, valid for any spin. Moreover, we will find that a certain choice of the residual momentum results in the exponentiation of the minimally coupled three-point amplitude.

In the traditional on-shell variables, the most general three-point amplitude for two massive particles of mass m and spin s, and one massless particle with momentum q and helicity h is [39]

$$\mathcal{M}^{+|h|,s} = (-1)^{2s+h} \frac{x^{|h|}}{m^{2s}} \left[g_0 \langle \mathbf{21} \rangle^{2s} + g_1 \langle \mathbf{21} \rangle^{2s-1} \frac{x \langle \mathbf{2q} \rangle \langle q\mathbf{1} \rangle}{m} + \dots + g_{2s} \frac{(x \langle \mathbf{2q} \rangle \langle q\mathbf{1} \rangle)^{2s}}{m^{2s}} \right],$$
(3.1)
$$\mathcal{M}^{-|h|,s} = (-1)^h \frac{x^{-|h|}}{m^{2s}} \left[\tilde{g}_0 [\mathbf{21}]^{2s} + \tilde{g}_1 [\mathbf{21}]^{2s-1} \frac{x^{-1} [\mathbf{2q}] [q\mathbf{1}]}{m} + \dots + \tilde{g}_{2s} \frac{(x^{-1} [\mathbf{2q}] [q\mathbf{1}])^{2s}}{m^{2s}} \right].$$
(3.2)

The overall sign differs from the expression in ref. [39], due to our convention that p_1 is incoming. The positive helicity amplitude is expressed in the chiral basis, and the negative helicity amplitude in the anti-chiral basis. The minimal coupling portion of this is the amplitude with all couplings except g_0 and \tilde{g}_0 set to zero:

$$\mathcal{M}_{\min}^{+|h|,s} = (-1)^{2s+h} \frac{g_0 x^{+|h|}}{m^{2s}} \langle \mathbf{21} \rangle^{2s}, \qquad (3.3)$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{\min}^{-|h|,s} = (-1)^h \frac{\tilde{g}_0 x^{-|h|}}{m^{2s}} [\mathbf{21}]^{2s}.$$
(3.4)

Thus we see that expressing this in terms of on-shell HPET variables requires that we convert the spinor products $\langle 21 \rangle$, $x \langle 2q \rangle \langle q1 \rangle$ (and their anti-chiral basis counterparts) to the on-shell HQET variables.

In the remainder of this section we take $p_1^{\mu} = mv^{\mu} + k_1^{\mu}$ incoming, and q^{μ} and $p_2^{\mu} = mv^{\mu} + k_2^{\mu}$ outgoing. With this choice of kinematics, the initial and final residual momenta are related by $k_2^{\mu} = k_1^{\mu} - q^{\mu}$. We can relate a spinor with incoming momentum to the spinor with outgoing momentum using analytical continuation, eq. (A.15). Also, the x factor picks up a negative sign when the directions of p_1 or q are flipped, $x \to -x$.

3.1 General residual momentum

We start by converting the s = 1/2 amplitude to on-shell HPET variables. Inverting eq. (2.4) and simply taking the appropriate spinor products, we can relate the traditional and HPET spinor products:

$$\langle \mathbf{21} \rangle = \frac{m^2}{m_{k_2} m_{k_1}} \left[\frac{m_{k_1}}{m} \langle \mathbf{2}_v \mathbf{1}_v \rangle + \frac{1}{4m} [\mathbf{2}_v q] \langle q \mathbf{1}_v \rangle + \frac{x^{-1}}{4m} [\mathbf{2}_v q] [q \mathbf{1}_v] \right], \tag{3.5a}$$

$$\langle \mathbf{2}q \rangle \langle q\mathbf{1} \rangle = \frac{m^2}{4m_{k_2}m_{k_1}} \left(\langle \mathbf{2}_v q \rangle \langle q\mathbf{1}_v \rangle + x^{-1} \langle \mathbf{2}_v q \rangle [q\mathbf{1}_v] + x^{-1} [\mathbf{2}_v q] \langle q\mathbf{1}_v \rangle + x^{-2} [\mathbf{2}_v q] [q\mathbf{1}_v] \right).$$
(3.5b)

Similarly, the spinor products in the anti-chiral basis become

$$[\mathbf{21}] = \frac{m^2}{m_{k_2}m_{k_1}} \left[\frac{m_{k_1}}{m} [\mathbf{2}_v \mathbf{1}_v] + \frac{1}{4m} \langle \mathbf{2}_v q \rangle [q \mathbf{1}_v] + \frac{x}{4m} \langle \mathbf{2}_v q \rangle \langle q \mathbf{1}_v \rangle \right],$$
(3.6a)

$$[\mathbf{2}q][q\mathbf{1}] = \frac{m^2}{4m_{k_2}m_{k_1}} \left([\mathbf{2}_v q][q\mathbf{1}_v] + x[\mathbf{2}_v q]\langle q\mathbf{1}_v \rangle + x\langle \mathbf{2}_v q \rangle [q\mathbf{1}_v] + x^2 \langle \mathbf{2}_v q \rangle \langle q\mathbf{1}_v \rangle \right).$$
(3.6b)

By substituting eqs. (3.6) and (3.5) in eqs. (3.3) and (3.4) for s = 1/2, the minimally coupled amplitudes for positive and negative helicity become

$$\mathcal{M}_{\text{HPET,min}}^{+|h|,s=\frac{1}{2}} = (-1)^{1+h} g_0 x^{|h|} \frac{m}{m_{k_2} m_{k_1}} \left[\frac{m_{k_1}}{m} \langle \mathbf{2}_v \mathbf{1}_v \rangle + \frac{1}{4m} [\mathbf{2}_v q] \langle q \mathbf{1}_v \rangle + \frac{x^{-1}}{4m} [\mathbf{2}_v q] [q \mathbf{1}_v] \right],$$
(3.7a)
$$\mathcal{M}_{\text{HPET,min}}^{-|h|,s=\frac{1}{2}} = (-1)^h \tilde{q}_0 x^{-|h|} \frac{m}{m_k} \left[\frac{m_{k_1}}{m} [\mathbf{2}_v \mathbf{1}_v] + \frac{1}{4m} \langle \mathbf{2}_v q \rangle [q \mathbf{1}_v] + \frac{x}{4m} \langle \mathbf{2}_v q \rangle \langle q \mathbf{1}_v \rangle \right]$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{\text{HPET,min}}^{-|h|,s=\frac{1}{2}} = (-1)^{h} \tilde{g}_{0} x^{-|h|} \frac{m}{m_{k_{2}} m_{k_{1}}} \left[\frac{m_{k_{1}}}{m} [\mathbf{2}_{v} \mathbf{1}_{v}] + \frac{1}{4m} \langle \mathbf{2}_{v} q \rangle [q \mathbf{1}_{v}] + \frac{x}{4m} \langle \mathbf{2}_{v} q \rangle \langle q \mathbf{1}_{v} \rangle \right],$$
(3.7b)

One can expand the m_{k_i} in powers of |k|/m, which is the characteristic expansion of HPETs. These three-point amplitudes therefore provide a conjecture for the resummed spin-1/2 HPET amplitude. Comparing the expansions of eq. (3.7) with that computed directly from the spin-1/2 HPET Lagrangians, we have confirmed that they agree at least up to $\mathcal{O}(m^{-2})$ for HQET, and $\mathcal{O}(m^{-1})$ for HBET.³ Some subtleties of the matching to the Lagrangian calculation are discussed in appendix E.

The spin-dependence of these amplitudes can be made explicit by using the on-shell form of $q \cdot S$ in eq. (2.19):

$$\mathcal{M}_{\text{HPET,min}}^{+|h|,s=\frac{1}{2}} = (-1)^{1+h} g_0 x^{|h|} \frac{m}{m_{k_2} m_{k_1}} \langle \mathbf{2}_v | \left[1 - \frac{\psi k_1 k_2 \psi}{4m^2} + \frac{q \cdot S}{m} \right] |\mathbf{1}_v \rangle, \tag{3.8a}$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{\text{HPET,min}}^{-|h|,s=\frac{1}{2}} = (-1)^{h} \tilde{g}_{0} x^{-|h|} \frac{m}{m_{k_{2}} m_{k_{1}}} [\mathbf{2}_{v}| \left[1 - \frac{\psi k_{1} k_{2} \psi}{4m^{2}} - \frac{q \cdot S}{m}\right] |\mathbf{1}_{v}].$$
(3.8b)

Written in this way, it is immediately apparent how the $k_1 = 0$ parameterization can be obtained from the general case. We turn now to this scenario.

3.2 Zero initial residual momentum

We now consider the parameterization where $k_1^{\mu} = 0$ and $k_2^{\mu} = -q^{\mu}$ With zero initial residual momentum, we can switch between the chiral and anti-chiral bases using eq. (2.5):

$$\langle \mathbf{2}_v \mathbf{1}_v \rangle = -[\mathbf{2}_v \mathbf{1}_v], \tag{3.9a}$$

$$\langle \mathbf{2}_{v}q \rangle \langle q\mathbf{1}_{v} \rangle = x^{-2} [\mathbf{2}_{v}q] [q\mathbf{1}_{v}]. \tag{3.9b}$$

Recognizing eqs. (3.9a) and (3.9b) as directly relating spinless effects and the spin-vector respectively in different bases, we see that, for this parameterization, spin effects are never obscured by working in any particular basis. This is in contrast to the traditional on-shell variables, where the analog to eq. (3.9a) includes a spin term, thus hiding or exposing spin dependence when working in a certain basis. Thus we have gained a basis-independent interpretation of spinless and spin-inclusive terms.

Either setting $k_1 = 0$ in eq. (3.8), or applying eqs. (3.9a) and (3.9b) to eqs. (3.5) and (3.6), the minimally coupled three-point amplitude with zero residual momentum is obtained:

$$\mathcal{M}_{\text{HPET,min}}^{+|h|,s=\frac{1}{2}} = (-1)^{1+h} \frac{g_0 x^{|h|}}{m} \left[\langle \mathbf{2}_v \mathbf{1}_v \rangle + \frac{x}{2m} \langle \mathbf{2}_v q \rangle \langle q \mathbf{1}_v \rangle \right], \qquad (3.10a)$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{\text{HPET,min}}^{-|h|,s=\frac{1}{2}} = (-1)^{h} \frac{\tilde{g}_{0} x^{-|h|}}{m} \left[[\mathbf{2}_{v} \mathbf{1}_{v}] + \frac{x^{-1}}{2m} [\mathbf{2}_{v} q] [q \mathbf{1}_{v}] \right].$$
(3.10b)

Note the negative signs which come from treating p_1 as incoming.

³Note that the power counting of the HBET operators starts one power of m higher than HQET, at $\mathcal{O}(m)$. Thus both of these checks account for the operators up to and including NNLO.

Three-point kinematics are restrictive enough when $k_1 = 0$ that we can derive the three-point amplitude in eq. (3.10) in an entirely different fashion. The full three-point amplitude for a heavy spin-1/2 particle coupled to a photon can be written as⁴

$$\mathcal{A}\left(-\mathbf{1}^{\frac{1}{2}}, \mathbf{2}^{\frac{1}{2}}, q^{h}\right) = f(m, v, q) e v_{\mu} \epsilon_{q}^{h, \mu} \bar{u}_{v}(p_{2}) u_{v}(p_{1}) + g(m, v, q) e q^{\mu} \epsilon_{q}^{h, \nu} \bar{u}_{v}(p_{2}) \sigma_{\mu\nu} u_{v}(p_{1}).$$
(3.11)

The negative in the argument of the amplitude signifies an incoming momentum. The three-point operators in the HQET Lagrangian, as well as any non-minimal couplings, modify the functions f and g, but there are no other spinor structures that can arise. We therefore have two spinor contractions in terms of which we would like to express the spinor brackets of interest. We proceed by writing the two contractions in terms of the traditional on-shell variables, and equating this to the contractions expressed in terms of the on-shell HPET variables. Working with, say, a positive helicity photon, this yields

$$v_{\mu}\epsilon_{q}^{+,\mu}\bar{u}_{v}(p_{2})u_{v}(p_{1}) = -\sqrt{2}x\langle \mathbf{2}_{v}\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle = -\frac{x}{\sqrt{2}}\left(-\frac{x}{m}\langle \mathbf{2}q\rangle\langle q\mathbf{1}\rangle + 2\langle \mathbf{2}\mathbf{1}\rangle\right), \quad (3.12a)$$

$$\bar{u}_{v}(p_{2})\sigma_{\mu\nu}u_{v}(p_{1})q^{\mu}\epsilon_{q}^{+,\nu} = \sqrt{2}ix^{2}\langle \mathbf{2}_{v}q\rangle\langle q\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle = \sqrt{2}ix^{2}\langle \mathbf{2}q\rangle\langle q\mathbf{1}\rangle.$$
(3.12b)

Solving for the traditional spinor products, we find

$$\langle \mathbf{21} \rangle = \langle \mathbf{2}_v \mathbf{1}_v \rangle + \frac{x}{2m} \langle \mathbf{2}_v q \rangle \langle q \mathbf{1}_v \rangle, \qquad (3.13a)$$

$$\langle \mathbf{2}q \rangle \langle q\mathbf{1} \rangle = \langle \mathbf{2}_v q \rangle \langle q\mathbf{1}_v \rangle. \tag{3.13b}$$

Similarly,

$$[\mathbf{21}] = [\mathbf{2}_v \mathbf{1}_v] + \frac{x^{-1}}{2m} [\mathbf{2}_v q] [q \mathbf{1}_v], \qquad (3.14a)$$

$$[\mathbf{2}q][q\mathbf{1}] = [\mathbf{2}_v q][q\mathbf{1}_v]. \tag{3.14b}$$

Note that eqs. (3.13) and (3.14) decompose the spinor brackets into spinless and spininclusive terms. Applying eq. (3.9), it is easy to check that this separation of different spin multipoles is independent of the basis used to express the traditional spinor brackets.

With eqs. (3.12a) and (3.12b), we can rewrite eq. (3.11) as

$$\mathcal{A}\left(-\mathbf{1}^{\frac{1}{2}},\mathbf{2}^{\frac{1}{2}},q^{+}\right) = \sqrt{2}xe\left(-f(m,v,q)\langle\mathbf{2}_{v}\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle + g(m,v,q)ix\langle\mathbf{2}_{v}q\rangle\langle q\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle\right).$$
(3.15)

The three-point amplitude in QED — with interaction term $\mathcal{L}_{int} = e\bar{\psi}A\psi$ — for a positive helicity photon is

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{QED}}\left(-\mathbf{1}^{\frac{1}{2}}, \mathbf{2}^{\frac{1}{2}}, q^{+}\right) = e\bar{u}(p_{2})\gamma_{\mu}u(p_{1})\epsilon_{q}^{+,\mu}$$
$$= \sqrt{2}ex\langle\mathbf{21}\rangle, \qquad (3.16)$$

⁴We use \mathcal{A} to denote a Yang-Mills amplitude.

where in the first line we use Dirac spinors instead of HQET spinors. Substituting eq. (3.13a) into the above equation gives

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{QED}}\left(-\mathbf{1}^{\frac{1}{2}}, \mathbf{2}^{\frac{1}{2}}, q^{+}\right) = \sqrt{2}ex\left(\langle \mathbf{2}_{v}\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle + \frac{x}{2m}\langle \mathbf{2}_{v}q\rangle\langle q\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle\right).$$
(3.17)

As abelian HQET is an effective theory derived from QED, it must reproduce the onshell QED amplitudes when all operators are accounted for. This means that eqs. (3.15) and (3.17) are equal, so we can solve for the functions f and g:

$$f(m, v, q) = -1, (3.18a)$$

$$g(m, v, q) = \frac{i}{2m}.$$
 (3.18b)

As a consequence of eqs. (3.18a) and (3.18b), we conclude that only the leading spin and leading spinless three-point operators of HQET are non-vanishing on-shell when $k_1 = 0$. Indeed, in this case the transfer momentum q^{μ} is the only parameter that can appear in the HQET operator expansion. In the three-point amplitude, it can only appear in the scalar combinations $q^2 = 0$ by on-shellness of the photon, $v \cdot q \sim q^2 = 0$ by on-shellness of the quarks, or $q \cdot \epsilon(q) = 0$ by transversality of the polarization.

To sum up, we list the three-point amplitude for two equal mass spin-1/2 particles and an outgoing photon for both helicities, and in both the chiral and anti-chiral bases:⁵

$$\mathcal{A}^{+1,s=\frac{1}{2}} = \sqrt{2}ex\left(\langle \mathbf{2}_{v}\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle + \frac{x}{2m}\langle \mathbf{2}_{v}q\rangle\langle q\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle\right) = -\sqrt{2}ex\left([\mathbf{2}_{v}\mathbf{1}_{v}] - \frac{x^{-1}}{2m}[\mathbf{2}_{v}q][q\mathbf{1}_{v}]\right), \quad (3.19a)$$
$$\mathcal{A}^{-1,s=\frac{1}{2}} = \sqrt{2}ex^{-1}\left(\langle \mathbf{2}_{v}\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle - \frac{x}{2m}\langle \mathbf{2}_{v}q\rangle\langle q\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle\right) = -\sqrt{2}ex^{-1}\left([\mathbf{2}_{v}\mathbf{1}_{v}] + \frac{x^{-1}}{2m}[\mathbf{2}_{v}q][q\mathbf{1}_{v}]\right), \quad (3.19b)$$

so $g_0 = \tilde{g}_0 = \sqrt{2}em$. When a graviton is emitted instead of a photon, we simply make the replacement $e \to -\frac{\kappa m}{2\sqrt{2}}$ and square the overall factors of x.

We can obtain the amplitude with general initial residual momentum by reparameterizing the states by means of eq. (2.12).

3.3 Most general three-point amplitude

Recall the most general three-point amplitude for two massive particles of spin s and mass m and a massless boson with helicity h in the chiral basis, eq. (3.1):

$$\mathcal{M}^{+|h|,s} = (-1)^{2s+h} \frac{x^{|h|}}{m^{2s}} \left[g_0 \langle \mathbf{21} \rangle^{2s} + g_1 \langle \mathbf{21} \rangle^{2s-1} \frac{x \langle \mathbf{2q} \rangle \langle q\mathbf{1} \rangle}{m} + \dots + g_{2s} \frac{(x \langle \mathbf{2q} \rangle \langle q\mathbf{1} \rangle)^{2s}}{m^{2s}} \right].$$
(3.20)

When expressing eq. (3.1) in terms of the on-shell HPET variables, setting the initial residual momentum to zero, and applying the binomial expansion, we find that

$$\mathcal{M}_{3}^{+|h|,s} = (-1)^{2s+h} \frac{x^{|h|}}{m^{2s}} \sum_{k=0}^{2s} g_{s,k}^{\mathrm{H}} \langle \mathbf{2}_{v} \mathbf{1}_{v} \rangle^{2s-k} \left(\frac{x}{2m} \langle \mathbf{2}_{v} q \rangle \langle q \mathbf{1}_{v} \rangle \right)^{k}, \quad g_{s,k}^{\mathrm{H}} = \sum_{i=0}^{k} g_{i} \binom{2s-i}{2s-k}.$$
(3.21a)

⁵We abbreviate the arguments of the amplitude here, but still use p_1 incoming.

We can express this in the anti-chiral basis using eq. (3.9):

$$\mathcal{M}_{3}^{+|h|,s} = \frac{x^{|h|}}{m^{2s}} \sum_{k=0}^{2s} g_{s,k}^{\mathrm{H}} (-1)^{k+h} [\mathbf{2}_{v} \mathbf{1}_{v}]^{2s-k} \left(\frac{x^{-1}}{2m} [\mathbf{2}_{v} q] [q \mathbf{1}_{v}]\right)^{k}.$$
 (3.21b)

The k^{th} spin-multipole can be isolated by choosing the k^{th} term in the sum. There are 2s + 1 combinations of the spinor brackets in this sum, consistent with the fact that a spin s particle can only probe up to the $2s^{\text{th}}$ spin order term of the spin-multipole expansion. Note also that the coefficient of the spin monopole term is always equal to its value for minimal coupling, making the monopole term universal in any theory.⁶

The minimal coupling amplitudes are those in eqs. (3.3) and (3.4), which correspond to setting $g_{i>0} = 0$. Translating to the on-shell HPET variables, minimal coupling in eqs. (3.21a) and (3.21b) corresponds to $g_{s,k}^{\rm H} = g_0 {2s \choose k}$.

We can write the analogous expressions to eqs. (3.21a) and (3.21b) for a negative helicity massless particle. Expressing eqs. (3.2) using eq. (3.14a) and (3.14b),

$$\mathcal{M}_{3}^{-|h|,s} = (-1)^{h} \frac{x^{-|h|}}{m^{2s-1}} \sum_{k=0}^{2s} \tilde{g}_{s,k}^{\mathrm{H}} [\mathbf{2}_{v} \mathbf{1}_{v}]^{2s-k} \left(\frac{x^{-1}}{2m} [\mathbf{2}_{v}q][q\mathbf{1}_{v}]\right)^{k}, \quad \tilde{g}_{s,k}^{\mathrm{H}} = \sum_{i=0}^{k} \tilde{g}_{i} \binom{2s-i}{2s-k}.$$
(3.22a)

Converting to the chiral basis,

$$\mathcal{M}_{3}^{-|h|,s} = \frac{x^{-|h|}}{m^{2s}} \sum_{k=0}^{2s} \tilde{g}_{s,k}^{\mathrm{H}}(-1)^{2s+h+k} \langle \mathbf{2}_{v} \mathbf{1}_{v} \rangle^{2s-k} \left(\frac{x}{2m} \langle \mathbf{2}_{v} q \rangle \langle q \mathbf{1}_{v} \rangle\right)^{k}.$$
(3.22b)

Minimal coupling in this case corresponds to $\tilde{g}_{i>0} = 0$, and thus $\tilde{g}_{s,k}^{\mathrm{H}} = \tilde{g}_0 {\binom{2s}{k}}$.

3.4 Infinite spin limit

Various methods have been used to show that the minimal coupling three-point amplitude in traditional on-shell variables exponentiates in the infinite spin limit [25, 32, 44]. All of them require a slight manipulation of the minimal coupling to do so, with refs. [25, 32] employing a change of basis between the chiral and anti-chiral bases, ref. [25] applying a generalized expectation value, and refs. [32, 44] using a Lorentz boost — analogous to the gauge-fixing of the spin operator in ref. [14] — to rewrite the minimal coupling amplitude. As the on-shell HPET variables inherently make the spin-dependence of the minimal coupling manifest, the exponentiation of the three-point amplitude is immediate.

Consider the minimal coupling three-point amplitude for two massive spin s particles and one massless particle:

$$\mathcal{M}^{+|h|,s} = (-1)^{2s+h} \frac{g_0 x^{|h|}}{m^{2s}} \langle \mathbf{2}_v |^{2s} \sum_{k=0}^{2s} \frac{(2s)!}{(2s-k)!} \frac{\left(\frac{x}{2m} |q\rangle \langle q|\right)^k}{k!} |\mathbf{1}_v\rangle^{2s}.$$
 (3.23)

⁶This is consistent with the reparameterization invariance of HQET, which fixes the Wilson coefficients of the spinless operators in the HQET Lagrangian up to order 1/m [50]. As argued above, when the initial residual momentum is set to 0, these are the only operators contributing to the spin monopole.

The quantity in the sum is the rescaled spin-operator $q \cdot S/m$ for a spin s particle, raised to the power of k and divided by k! [11],

$$\left(\frac{q \cdot S}{m}\right)^n = \frac{(2s)!}{(2s-n)!} \left(\frac{x}{2m} |q\rangle\langle q|\right)^n,\tag{3.24}$$

where we have suppressed the spinor indices. The amplitude is therefore

$$\mathcal{M}^{+|h|,s} = (-1)^{2s+h} \frac{g_0 x^{|h|}}{m^{2s}} \langle \mathbf{2}_v |^{2s} \sum_{k=0}^{2s} \frac{\left(\frac{q \cdot S}{m}\right)^k}{k!} |\mathbf{1}_v \rangle^{2s}.$$
(3.25)

We identify the sum with an exponential, with the understanding that the series truncates at the $2s^{\text{th}}$ term for a spin 2s particle:

$$\mathcal{M}^{+|h|,s} = (-1)^{2s+h} \frac{g_0 x^{|h|}}{m^{2s}} \langle \mathbf{2}_v |^{2s} e^{q \cdot S/m} |\mathbf{1}_v \rangle^{2s}.$$
(3.26)

Taking the infinite spin limit, the exponential is exact as its Taylor series does not truncate. We treat the exponential as a number in this limit and remove it from between the spinors [32]:

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} \mathcal{M}^{+|h|,s} = \lim_{s \to \infty} (-1)^{2s+h} \frac{g_0 x^{|h|}}{m^{2s}} e^{q \cdot S/m} \langle \mathbf{2}_v \mathbf{1}_v \rangle^{2s}.$$
(3.27)

Note that since the initial residual momentum is 0, both spinors are associated with the same momentum. Then, using the on-shell conditions for these variables,⁷

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} \mathcal{M}^{+|h|,s} = (-1)^h g_0 x^{|h|} e^{q \cdot S/m}.$$
(3.28)

This amplitude immediately agrees with the three-point amplitude in refs. [25, 32]: it is the scalar three-point amplitude multiplied by an exponential containing the classical spin-multipole moments. Also notable is that the generalized expectation value (GEV) of ref. [25] or the Lorentz boosts of refs. [32, 44] are not necessary here to interpret the spin dependence classically.

For the emission of a negative helicity boson, the n^{th} power of the spin-operator projected along the direction of the boson's momentum is

$$\left(\frac{q \cdot S}{m}\right)^n = \frac{(2s)!}{(2s-n)!} \left(-\frac{x^{-1}}{2m}|q][q]\right)^n.$$
(3.29)

Starting with eq. (3.22a), the three-point amplitude exponentiates as

$$\mathcal{M}^{-|h|,s} = (-1)^{h} \frac{\tilde{g}_{0} x^{-|h|}}{m^{2s}} [\mathbf{2}_{v}|^{2s} e^{-q \cdot S/m} |\mathbf{1}_{v}]^{2s}, \qquad (3.30)$$

⁷The validity of using the on-shell conditions can be checked explicitly by rewriting the bracket in terms of traditional on-shell variables, then boosting one of the momenta into the other as in ref. [44].

with the exponential being truncated at the $2s^{\text{th}}$ term. Taking the infinite spin limit, we find

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} \mathcal{M}^{-|h|,s} = \lim_{s \to \infty} (-1)^h \frac{\tilde{g}_0 x^{-|h|}}{m^{2s}} e^{-q \cdot S/m} [\mathbf{2}_v \mathbf{1}_v]^{2s}.$$
(3.31)

Applying the on-shell conditions for these variables, we get

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} \mathcal{M}^{-|h|,s} = (-1)^h \tilde{g}_0 x^{-|h|} e^{-q \cdot S/m}.$$
(3.32)

Once again we find the scalar three-point amplitude multiplied by an exponential containing the classical spin dependence.

That the exponentials in this section are functions of $q \cdot S$ instead of $2q \cdot S$, as is the case when the traditional on-shell variables are naïvely exponentiated — that is, without normalizing by the GEV, or Lorentz boosting one of the spinors — is significant. We discuss the implications of this in the next section.

4 Kerr black holes as heavy particles

In this section, we apply the on-shell HPET variables to the classical gravitational scattering of two spinning black holes. We show that, with the correct momentum parameterization, a heavy spin-s particle minimally coupled to gravity possesses precisely the same spin-multipole expansion as a Kerr black hole, up to the order 2s multipole. The reason for this is that on-shell HPET variables for a given velocity v^{μ} , residual momentum k^{μ} , and mass m always correspond to momenta $m_k v^{\mu}$, where m_k is defined in eq. (2.7).

We begin with a brief review of the effective field theory for spinning gravitating bodies. The action of a particle interacting with gravitational radiation of wavelength much larger than its spatial extent (approximately a point particle) was formulated in ref. [12]. The generalization to the case of spinning particles was first approached in ref. [13]. The effective action formulated in ref. [14] takes the form

$$S = \int d\sigma \left\{ -m\sqrt{u^2} - \frac{1}{2}S_{\mu\nu}\Omega^{\mu\nu} + L_{\rm SI}[u^{\mu}, S_{\mu\nu}, g_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu})] \right\},$$
(4.1)

where σ parameterizes the wordline of the particle, $u^{\mu} = \frac{dx^{\mu}}{d\sigma}$ is the coordinate velocity, $S_{\mu\nu}$ is the spin operator, $\Omega^{\mu\nu}$ is the angular velocity, and $L_{\rm SI}$ contains higher spin-multipoles that are dependent on the inner structure of the particle through non-minimal couplings.

The first two terms in eq. (4.1) are the spin monopole and dipole terms, and are universal for spinning bodies with any internal configuration. We assign to them respectively the coefficients $C_{S^0} = C_{S^1} = 1$. From an amplitudes perspective, the universality of the spin-monopole coefficient can be seen from the on-shell HPET variables since the coefficient of the spin-monopole term in eqs. (3.21a) and (3.22a) is always equal to its minimal coupling value. The universality of the spin-dipole coefficient was argued in refs. [11, 45] from general covariance, and by requiring the correct factorization of the Compton scattering amplitude. Explicitly, the higher spin-multipole terms $L_{\rm SI}$ are

$$L_{\rm SI} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^n}{(2n)!} \frac{C_{S^{2n}}}{m^{2n-1}} D_{\mu_{2n}} \dots D_{\mu_3} \frac{E_{\mu_1 \mu_2}}{\sqrt{u^2}} S^{\mu_1} S^{\mu_2} \dots S^{\mu_{2n}} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^n}{(2n+1)!} \frac{C_{S^{2n+1}}}{m^{2n}} D_{\mu_{2n+1}} \dots D_{\mu_3} \frac{B_{\mu_1 \mu_2}}{\sqrt{u^2}} S^{\mu_1} S^{\mu_2} \dots S^{\mu_{2n+1}}.$$
(4.2)

See ref. [14] for the derivation and formulation of this action. The Wilson coefficients C_{S^k} contain the information about the internal structure of the object, with a Kerr black hole being described by $C_{S^k}^{\text{Kerr}} = 1$ for all k.

The three-point amplitude derived from this action was expressed in traditional spinorhelicity variables in refs. [11, 45], where it was shown that the spin-multipole expansion is necessarily truncated at order 2s when the polarization tensors of spin s particles are used. By matching this three-point amplitude with the most general form of a three-point amplitude, it was found there that in the case of minimal coupling one obtains the Wilson coefficients of a Kerr black hole in the infinite spin limit. Following their derivation, but using on-shell HPET variables instead, we find (with all momenta incoming)

$$\mathcal{M}^{+2,s} = \sum_{a+b \leq s} \frac{\kappa m x^2}{2m^{2s}} C_{S^{a+b}} n^s_{a,b} \langle \mathbf{2}_{-v} \mathbf{1}_v \rangle^{s-a} \left(-x \frac{\langle \mathbf{2}_{-v} q \rangle \langle q \mathbf{1}_v \rangle}{2m} \right)^a [\mathbf{2}_{-v} \mathbf{1}_v]^{s-b} \left(x^{-1} \frac{[\mathbf{2}_{-v} q][q \mathbf{1}_v]}{2m} \right)^b,$$
$$n^s_{a,b} \equiv \binom{s}{a} \binom{s}{b}.$$
(4.3)

As in refs. [11, 45], we refer to this representation of the amplitude in a form symmetric in the chiral and anti-chiral bases as the polarization basis. Flipping the directions of p_2 and q (to allow us to directly compare with eq. (3.21a)), then converting the polarization basis to the chiral basis:

$$\mathcal{M}^{+2,s} = \frac{x^2}{m^{2s}} (-1)^{2s} \sum_{a+b \le 2s} \frac{\kappa m}{2} C_{S^{a+b}} n^s_{a,b} \langle \mathbf{2}_v \mathbf{1}_v \rangle^{2s-a-b} \left(\frac{x}{2m} \langle \mathbf{2}_v q \rangle \langle q \mathbf{1}_v \rangle \right)^{a+b}.$$
(4.4)

Comparing with eq. (3.21a), we obtain a one-to-one relation between the coupling constants of both expansions:

$$g_{s,k}^{\rm H} = \frac{\kappa m}{2} C_{S^k} \sum_{j=0}^k n_{k-j,j}^s.$$
(4.5)

Such a one-to-one relation is consistent with the interpretation of eq. (3.21a) as being a spin-multipole expansion. Focusing on the minimal coupling case, we set $g_{i>0} = 0$, which means $g_{s,k}^{\rm H} = g_0 {\binom{2s}{k}}$. Normalizing $g_0 = \kappa m/2$, the coefficients of the one-particle effective action for finite spin take the form

$$C_{S^k}^{\min} = \binom{2s}{k} \left[\sum_{j=0}^k \binom{s}{k-j} \binom{s}{j} \right]^{-1} = 1.$$

$$(4.6)$$

The final equality is the Chu-Vandermonde identity, valid for all k. This suggests that the minimal coupling expressed in the on-shell HPET variables produces precisely the multipole moments of a Kerr black hole, even before taking the infinite spin limit.

Using the same matching technique, refs. [11, 45] showed that, when using traditional on-shell variables, the minimal coupling three-point amplitude for finite spin s corresponded to Wilson coefficients that deviated from those of a Kerr black hole by terms of order $\mathcal{O}(1/s)$. Why is it then that the polarization tensors of finite spin HPET possess the same spin-multipole expansion as a Kerr black hole? Analyzing the matching performed in refs. [11, 45], the s dependence there arises from the conversion of the polarization basis to the chiral basis. The reason for this is that new spin contributions arise from this conversion since the chiral and anti-chiral bases are mixed by two times the spin-operator:

$$\langle \mathbf{12} \rangle = -[\mathbf{12}] + \frac{1}{xm} [\mathbf{1}q][q\mathbf{2}], \qquad (4.7a)$$

$$[\mathbf{12}] = -\langle \mathbf{12} \rangle + \frac{x}{m} \langle \mathbf{1q} \rangle \langle q\mathbf{2} \rangle.$$
(4.7b)

The second terms on the right hand sides of these equations encode spin effects, while the first terms were interpreted to be purely spinless. However, the left hand sides of these equations contradict the latter interpretation; the spinor brackets $\langle 12 \rangle$ and [12] themselves contain spin effects. This is the origin of the observed deviation from $C_{S^k}^{\text{Kerr}}$: eq. (4.7), while exposing some spin-dependence, does not entirely separate the spinless and spin-inclusive effects encoded in the traditional minimal coupling amplitude. The result is the matching of an exact spin-multipole expansion on the one-particle effective action side, to a rough separation of different spin-multipoles on the amplitude side.

A similar mismatch to Kerr black holes was seen in ref. [32], where the minimal coupling amplitude was shown to produce the spin dependence⁸

$$\langle \mathbf{21} \rangle = -[\mathbf{2}|e^{2q \cdot S/m}|\mathbf{1}], \qquad (4.8)$$

where S^{μ} is the Pauli-Lubanski pseudovector defined with respect to p_1 . Expanding the exponential and noting that the series terminates after the spin-dipole term in this case, it's easy to see the equivalence between this and eq. (4.7). The spin-dependence here differs from that of a Kerr black hole by a factor of two in the exponential [25, 53]. Motivated by arguments in ref. [14], an exact match to the Kerr black hole spin multipole expansion was obtained in ref. [32] by noting that additional spin contributions are hidden in the fact that the polarization vectors [2] and [1] represent different momenta. Writing [2] as a Lorentz boost of [1], the true spin-dependence of the minimal coupling bracket was manifested:

$$\langle \mathbf{21} \rangle \sim -[\mathbf{1}|e^{q \cdot S/m}|\mathbf{1}],\tag{4.9}$$

up to an operator acting on the little group index of [1]. The spin-dependence here matches that of a Kerr black hole, and also matches what has been made explicit in section 3.4.

⁸Ref. [32] worked exclusively with integer spin. However the only adaptation that must be made to the results therein when working with half integer spins is the inclusion of a factor of $(-1)^{2s} = -1$.

Using a similar Lorentz boost, the authors of ref. [44] also showed that the minimal coupling bracket indeed contains the spin-dependence of a Kerr black hole. We see that in the absence of a momentum mismatch between the polarization states used, the full spin-dependence is manifest, and the multipole expansion of a finite spin s particle corresponds exactly to that of a Kerr black hole up to $2s^{\text{th}}$ order.

This mismatch of momenta is avoided entirely when using on-shell HPET variables. Recall that in general the momentum p_v represented by on-shell HPET variables is

$$p_v^{\mu} = m_k v^{\mu}.$$
 (4.10)

Working in the case where the initial residual momentum is zero, as in the rest of this section, this reduces to simply $mv_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$ for the case of $p_{v,1}$. For $p_{v,2}$, where $p_2 = p_1 - q$ and q is the null transfer momentum,

$$p_{v,2} = \left(1 - \frac{q^2}{4m^2}\right) m v^{\mu} = m v^{\mu}.$$
(4.11)

Consequently, although the initial and final momenta of the massive particle differ by q, the degrees of freedom are arranged in such a way that the external states $|\mathbf{1}_v\rangle$ and $|\mathbf{2}_v\rangle$ are associated with the same momentum. This explains why we have recovered precisely the Wilson coefficients of a Kerr black hole. We identify this common momentum with that of the Kerr black hole $p_{\text{Kerr}}^{\mu} = mv^{\mu}$. From the point of view of spinor products, eq. (3.9) shows that on-shell HPET variables provide an unambiguous and basis-independent interpretation of spinless and spin-inclusive spinor brackets. Thus, the entire spin dependence of the minimal coupling amplitude is automatically made explicit, and is isolated from spinless terms.

In the case of $k_1 \neq 0$, the three-term structure of the minimal coupling amplitude spoils its exponentiation. The matching to the Kerr black hole spin-multipole moments is therefore obscured, but is recovered in the reparameterization where k_1 is set to 0. This mismatching of the spin-multipole moments can be attributed to the fact that the polarization tensors for the initial and final states no longer correspond to the same momentum, since generally $m_{k_1-q} \neq m_{k_1}$.

A similar matching analysis has recently been performed in ref. [54] for the case of Kerr-Newman black holes. It was also found there that minimal coupling to electromagnetism reproduces the classical spin multipoles of a Kerr-Newman black hole in the infinite spin limit, when the matching is performed using traditional on-shell variables. Repeating their analysis, but using on-shell HPET variables instead, we find again that the classical multipoles are reproduced exaclty, even for finite spin.

5 On-shell amplitudes

In this section, we compute electromagnetic and gravitational amplitudes for the scattering of minimally coupled spin-s particles in on-shell HPET variables using eqs.(3.5), (3.6), (3.13) and (3.14). Our goal in this section is two-fold: first, we will show how spin effects remain separated from spinless effects, at the order considered in this work, when using

on-shell HPET variables. Second, we will exploit the explicit \hbar dependence of eqs. (3.5) and (3.6) to isolate the classical portions of the computed amplitudes. Given that the momenta of the on-shell HPET variables always reduce to the momentum of a Kerr black hole in the classical limit, we expect to recover the spin-multipoles of a Kerr black hole in this limit. We show that, at tree-level, the spin dependence of the leading \hbar portions factorizes into a product of the classical spin-dependence at three-points. This is simply a consequence of factorization for boson exchange amplitudes (a result that has already been noted in ref. [32]). For same-helicity tree-level radiation processes this results from a spin-multipole universality that we will uncover, and for the opposite helicity Compton amplitude there will be an additional factor accounting for its non-uniqueness at higher spins.⁹

5.1 Counting \hbar

Given that we will be interested in isolating classical effects, we summarize here the rules for restoring the \hbar dependence in the amplitude [30], and adapt these rules to the on-shell variables.

Powers of \hbar are restored in such a way so as to preserve the dimensionality of amplitudes and coupling constants. To do so, the coupling constants of electromagnetism and gravity are rescaled as $e \to e/\sqrt{\hbar}$ and $\kappa \to \kappa/\sqrt{\hbar}$. Furthermore, when taking the classical limit $\hbar \to 0$ of momenta, massive momenta and masses are to be kept constant, whereas massless momenta vanish in this limit — for a massless momentum q, it is the associated wave number $\bar{q} = q/\hbar$ that is kept constant in the classical limit. Thus each massless momentum in amplitudes is associated with one power of \hbar . Translating this to on-shell variables, we assign a power of \hbar^{α} to each $|q\rangle$, and a power of $\hbar^{1-\alpha}$ to each |q|.¹⁰ Momenta that are treated with the massless \hbar scaling are

- photon and graviton momenta, whether they correspond to external or virtual particles;
- loop momenta, which can always be assigned to an internal massless boson;
- residual momenta [38].

Finally, we come to the case of spin-inclusive terms. When taking the classical limit $\hbar \to 0$, we simultaneously take the limit $s \to \infty$ where s is the magnitude of the spin. These limits are to be taken in such a way so as to keep the combination $\hbar s$ constant. This means that for every power of spin in a term, there is one factor of \hbar that we can neglect when taking the classical limit. Effectively, we can simply scale all powers of spin with one inverse power of \hbar , and understand that \hbar is to be taken to 0 wherever it appears in the amplitude.

⁹We contrast the factorization for radiation processes here with that in ref. [25] by noting that the entire quantum amplitude was factorized there, whereas we show that the factorization holds also for the leading \hbar contribution.

¹⁰The value of α can be determined by fixing the \hbar scaling of massless polarization tensors for each helicity. Requiring that the dimensions of polarization vectors remain unchanged when \hbar is restored results in the democratic choice $\alpha = 1/2$.

As in ref. [38], we identify the components of an amplitude contributing classically to the interaction potential as those with the \hbar scaling

$$\mathcal{M} \sim \hbar^{-3}.\tag{5.1}$$

Terms with more positive powers of \hbar contribute quantum mechanically to the interaction potential. Also, we use $\mathcal{M}^{cl.}$ to denote the leading \hbar portion of an amplitude.

5.2 Boson exchange

We begin with the tree-level amplitudes for photon/graviton¹¹ exchange between two massive spinning particles. We consider first spin-1/2 — spin-1/2 scattering, to show that the spin-multipole expansion remains explicit in these variables at four points. The classical part of the amplitude can be computed by factorizing it into two three-point amplitudes. To simplify the calculation, we are free to set the initial residual momentum of each massive leg to 0, so we will need only eqs. (3.13) and (3.14). Letting particle *a* have mass m_a and incoming/outgoing momenta p_1/p_2 , and particle *b* have mass m_b and incoming/outgoing momenta p_3/p_4 , we find for an exchanged photon

$$i\mathcal{A}_{\text{tree}}\left(-\mathbf{1}_{a}^{\frac{1}{2}},\mathbf{2}_{a}^{\frac{1}{2}},-\mathbf{3}_{b}^{\frac{1}{2}},\mathbf{4}_{b}^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) = \sum_{h}\mathcal{A}_{\text{tree}}\left(-\mathbf{1}^{\frac{1}{2}},\mathbf{2}^{\frac{1}{2}},-q^{h}\right)\frac{i}{q^{2}}\mathcal{A}_{\text{tree}}\left(q^{-h},-\mathbf{3}^{\frac{1}{2}},\mathbf{4}^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)$$
$$= -\frac{ie^{2}}{q^{2}}\left[4\omega\langle\mathbf{2}_{v_{a}}\mathbf{1}_{v_{a}}\rangle\langle\mathbf{4}_{v_{b}}\mathbf{3}_{v_{b}}\rangle\right.$$
$$\left.-\frac{2}{m_{b}}\sqrt{\omega^{2}-1}\langle\mathbf{2}_{v_{a}}\mathbf{1}_{v_{a}}\rangle x_{b}\langle\mathbf{4}_{v_{b}}q\rangle\langle q\mathbf{3}_{v_{b}}\rangle\right.$$
$$\left.+\frac{2}{m_{a}}\sqrt{\omega^{2}-1}x_{a}\langle\mathbf{2}_{v_{a}}q\rangle\langle q\mathbf{1}_{v_{a}}\rangle\langle\mathbf{4}_{v_{b}}\mathbf{3}_{v_{b}}\rangle\right.$$
$$\left.-\frac{\omega}{m_{a}m_{b}}x_{a}\langle\mathbf{2}_{v_{a}}q\rangle\langle q\mathbf{1}_{v_{a}}\rangle x_{b}\langle\mathbf{4}_{v_{b}}q\rangle\langle q\mathbf{3}_{v_{b}}\rangle\right],\qquad(5.2)$$

where $\omega \equiv p_1 \cdot p_3/m_a m_b = (x_a x_b^{-1} + x_a^{-1} x_b)/2$, $v_a = p_1/m_a$, $v_b = p_3/m_b$, and negative momenta are incoming. The x variables are defined as

$$x_{a} = -\frac{[q|p_{1}|\xi\rangle}{m_{a}\langle q\xi\rangle}, \quad x_{a}^{-1} = -\frac{\langle q|p_{1}|\xi]}{m_{a}[q\xi]},$$
(5.3a)

$$x_b = \frac{[q|p_3|\xi\rangle}{m_b\langle q\xi\rangle}, \qquad x_b^{-1} = \frac{\langle q|p_3|\xi]}{m_b[q\xi]}.$$
(5.3b)

The negative sign in the definitions of x_a and x_a^{-1} account for the fact that the massless boson is incoming to particle a.

¹¹We will denote an amplitude involving photons by \mathcal{A} , and one involving gravitons by \mathcal{M} .

The gravitational amplitude is computed analogously:

$$i\mathcal{M}_{\text{tree}}(-\mathbf{1}_{a}^{\frac{1}{2}},\mathbf{2}_{a}^{\frac{1}{2}},-\mathbf{3}_{b}^{\frac{1}{2}},\mathbf{4}_{b}^{\frac{1}{2}}) = -\frac{im_{a}m_{b}\kappa^{2}}{8q^{2}} \left[4\left(2\omega^{2}-1\right)\langle\mathbf{2}_{v_{a}}\mathbf{1}_{v_{a}}\rangle\langle\mathbf{4}_{v_{b}}\mathbf{3}_{v_{b}}\rangle -\frac{4\omega}{m_{a}}\sqrt{\omega^{2}-1} x_{a}\langle\mathbf{2}_{v_{a}}q\rangle\langle q\mathbf{1}_{v_{a}}\rangle\langle\mathbf{4}_{v_{b}}\mathbf{3}_{v_{b}}\rangle +\frac{4\omega}{m_{b}}\sqrt{\omega^{2}-1} \langle\mathbf{2}_{v_{a}}\mathbf{1}_{v_{a}}\rangle x_{b}\langle\mathbf{4}_{v_{b}}q\rangle\langle q\mathbf{3}_{v_{b}}\rangle -\frac{(2\omega^{2}-1)}{m_{a}m_{b}}x_{a}\langle\mathbf{2}_{v_{a}}q\rangle\langle q\mathbf{1}_{v_{a}}\rangle x_{b}\langle\mathbf{4}_{v_{b}}q\rangle\langle q\mathbf{3}_{v_{b}}\rangle \right].$$
(5.4)

Both amplitudes agree with known results [5, 38, 55]. Furthermore, the amplitudes as written are composed of terms which each individually correspond to a single order in the spin-multipole expansion. All terms in these amplitudes scale as \hbar^{-3} , so these amplitudes are classical in the sense mentioned in the previous section.

Using the exponential forms of the three-point amplitudes in section 3.4, we can write down the boson-exchange amplitudes in the infinite spin case. We find the same result in the gravitational case as ref. [32]. However we have obtained this result immediately simply by gluing together the three-point amplitudes; we had no need to boost the external states such they represent the same momentum. Omitting the momentum arguments, the amplitudes are

$$\lim_{S_a, s_b \to \infty} \mathcal{A}_{\text{tree}}^{s_a, s_b} = -\frac{2e^2}{q^2} \sum_{\pm} (\omega \pm \sqrt{\omega^2 - 1}) \exp\left[\pm q \cdot \left(\frac{S_a}{m_a} + \frac{S_b}{m_b}\right)\right],\tag{5.5a}$$

$$\lim_{S_a, s_b \to \infty} \mathcal{M}_{\text{tree}}^{s_a, s_b} = -\frac{\kappa^2 m_a m_b}{4q^2} \sum_{\pm} (\omega \pm \sqrt{\omega^2 - 1})^2 \exp\left[\pm q \cdot \left(\frac{S_a}{m_a} + \frac{S_b}{m_b}\right)\right].$$
(5.5b)

The gravitational result corresponds to the first post-Minkowskian (1PM) order amplitude.

5.3 Compton scattering

Our focus shifts now to the electromagnetic and gravitational Compton amplitudes. These computations will enable the exploitation of the explicit \hbar and spin-multipole expansions to relate the classical limit $\hbar \to 0$ and the classical spin-multipole expansion. Concretely, we will show that the spin-multipole expansion of the leading-in- \hbar terms factorizes into a product of factors of the classical spin-dependence at three-points.

First, consider the spin-s electromagnetic Compton amplitude with two opposite helicity photons, $\mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^s, \mathbf{2}^s, q_3^{-1}, q_4^{+1})$. To simplify calculations, we can set the initial residual momentum to 0, so that $p_1^{\mu} = mv^{\mu}$. Note that it is impossible to set both initial and final residual momenta to 0 simultaneously, so we will need eqs. (3.5) and (3.6). We perform the computation by means of Britto-Cachazo-Feng-Witten (BCFW) recursion [56, 57], using the [3, 4)-shift

$$|\hat{4}\rangle = |4\rangle - z|3\rangle, \quad |\hat{3}] = |3] + z|4].$$
 (5.6a)

Under this shift, two factorization channels contribute to this amplitude:

$$\mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^{s},\mathbf{2}^{s},q_{3}^{-1},q_{4}^{+1}) = \frac{\mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^{s},\hat{q}_{3}^{-1},P_{13}^{s})\mathcal{A}(\mathbf{2}^{s},\hat{q}_{4}^{+1},-P_{13}^{s})}{\langle 3|p_{1}|3|}\Big|_{\hat{P}_{13}^{2}=m^{2}} + \frac{\mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^{s},\hat{q}_{4}^{+1},\hat{P}_{14}^{s})\mathcal{A}(\mathbf{2}^{s},\hat{q}_{3}^{-1},-\hat{P}_{14}^{s})}{\langle 4|p_{1}|4|}\Big|_{\hat{P}_{14}^{2}=m^{2}}.$$
(5.7)

This shift avoids boundary terms for $s \leq 1$ as $z \to \infty$. When expressing the factorization channels in terms of on-shell HPET variables, there is a question about whether new boundary terms arise relative to the traditional on-shell variables for $z \to \infty$, as would generally be expected because of higher-dimensional operators present in EFTs. This is not the case here, since eq. (2.9) shows that the definition of the on-shell HPET variables accounts for the contributions from all higher order HPET operators. Another way to see this is that, since the relation between the traditional and on-shell HPET variables is exact, an amplitude must always have the same large z scaling for any shift when expressed using the on-shell HPET variables as when expressed with the traditional on-shell variables. Consider for example the spinor contraction part of the P_{13} factorization channel. In the traditional variables, this is

$$\langle \mathbf{2}P_{13} \rangle^{I}{}_{I}[\hat{P}_{13}\mathbf{1}],$$
 (5.8)

which scales as z when $z \to \infty$. In the on-shell HPET variables:

$$\frac{m}{m_{q_3+q_4}} \left(\langle \mathbf{2}_v P_{13v} \rangle_I + \frac{1}{4m} [\mathbf{2}_v 4] \langle \hat{4} P_{13v} \rangle_I + \frac{1}{4m \hat{x}_4} [\mathbf{2}_v 4] [4 \hat{P}_{13v}]_I \right) \langle P_{13v} |^I \left(\mathbb{I} - \frac{1}{2m \hat{x}_3^{-1}} |3\rangle \langle 3| \right) |\mathbf{1}_v \rangle.$$

$$(5.9)$$

Choosing appropriate reference vectors for \hat{x}_3^{-1} and \hat{x}_4 ([4] and [3] respectively), we recover the unshifted x_3^{-1} and x_4 . Thus this also scales as z when $z \to \infty$. All other factors involved in the factorization channel are common to both sets of variables.

Adding the P_{13} and P_{14} factorization channels, we find the spin-s Compton amplitude

$$\mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^{s},\mathbf{2}^{s},q_{3}^{-1},q_{4}^{+1}) = (-1)^{2s}\mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^{0},\mathbf{2}^{0},q_{3}^{-1},q_{4}^{+1})[4|p_{1}|3\rangle^{-2s} \left(1 - \frac{q_{3} \cdot q_{4}}{2m^{2}}\right)^{-2s} \\ \times \left(\langle 3\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle[4\mathbf{2}_{v}] - \langle 3\mathbf{2}_{v}\rangle[4\mathbf{1}_{v}] + \frac{[43]}{2m}\langle \mathbf{2}_{v}3\rangle\langle 3\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle - \frac{\langle 34\rangle}{2m}[\mathbf{2}_{v}4][4\mathbf{1}_{v}]\right)^{2s}, \\ \mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^{0},\mathbf{2}^{0},q_{3}^{-1},q_{4}^{+1}) = -\frac{e^{2}[4|p_{1}|3\rangle^{2}}{\langle 4|p_{1}|4]\langle 3|p_{1}|3|},$$
(5.10)

which is in agreement with the result in ref. [11] for QED when the massive spinors are replaced with on-shell HPET spinors. In the gravitational case, we find

$$\mathcal{M}(-\mathbf{1}^{s}, \mathbf{2}^{s}, q_{3}^{-2}, q_{4}^{+2}) = (-1)^{2s} \mathcal{M}(-\mathbf{1}^{0}, \mathbf{2}^{0}, q_{3}^{-2}, q_{4}^{+2}) [4|p_{1}|3\rangle^{-2s} \left(1 - \frac{q_{3} \cdot q_{4}}{2m^{2}}\right)^{-2s} \\ \times \left(\langle 3\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle [4\mathbf{2}_{v}] - \langle 3\mathbf{2}_{v}\rangle [4\mathbf{1}_{v}] + \frac{[43]}{2m} \langle \mathbf{2}_{v}3\rangle \langle 3\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle - \frac{\langle 34\rangle}{2m} [\mathbf{2}_{v}4] [4\mathbf{1}_{v}]\right)^{2s}, \\ \mathcal{M}(-\mathbf{1}^{0}, \mathbf{2}^{0}, q_{3}^{-2}, q_{4}^{+2}) = -\frac{\kappa^{2}[4|p_{1}|3\rangle^{4}}{8q_{3} \cdot q_{4} \langle 4|p_{1}|4] \langle 3|p_{1}|3]}.$$
(5.11)

Note the appearance of spurious poles for s > 1 in the electromagnetic case, and for s > 2 in the gravitational case, consistent with the necessarily composite nature of higher spin particles [39].

Spin effects are isolated in the last two terms in parentheses. This can be seen in two ways. The first is to rewrite these last two terms in the language of ref. [25]:

$$\mathcal{M}(-\mathbf{1}^{s},\mathbf{2}^{s},q_{3}^{-2},q_{4}^{+2}) = \frac{(-1)^{2s}}{m^{2s}}\mathcal{M}(-\mathbf{1}^{0},\mathbf{2}^{0},q_{3}^{-2},q_{4}^{+2})\left(1-\frac{q_{3}\cdot q_{4}}{2m^{2}}\right)^{-2s} \times \langle \mathbf{2}_{v}|^{2s}\left(\mathbb{I}+\frac{1}{2}i\frac{q_{3,\mu}\varepsilon_{3,\nu}^{-}J^{\mu\nu}}{p_{1}\cdot\varepsilon_{3}^{-}}+\frac{1}{2}i\psi\frac{q_{4,\mu}\varepsilon_{4,\nu}^{+}J^{\mu\nu}}{p_{1}\cdot\varepsilon_{4}^{+}}\psi\right)^{2s}|\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle^{2s}.$$
 (5.12)

Alternatively, as is more convenient for our purposes, the factorization into classical threepoint amplitudes can be made more visible by application of the Schouten identity to these terms:

$$\mathcal{M}(-\mathbf{1}^{s},\mathbf{2}^{s},q_{3}^{-2},q_{4}^{+2}) = \frac{(-1)^{2s}}{m^{2s}}\mathcal{M}(-\mathbf{1}^{0},\mathbf{2}^{0},q_{3}^{-2},q_{4}^{+2})(\mathcal{N}_{1}+\mathcal{N}_{2})^{2s},$$
(5.13a)

where

$$\mathcal{N}_{1} \equiv \langle \mathbf{2}_{v} | \left[\mathbb{I} + \frac{(q_{4} - q_{3}) \cdot S}{m_{q_{3} + q_{4}}} \right] | \mathbf{1}_{v} \rangle,$$
(5.13b)
$$\mathcal{N}_{2} \equiv \langle \mathbf{2}_{v} | \left[v | 4 \right] \langle 3 | \frac{p_{1} \cdot q_{4}}{m_{q_{3} + q_{4}} [4 | p_{1} | 3 \rangle} + | 3 \rangle [4 | v \frac{p_{1} \cdot q_{3}}{m_{q_{3} + q_{4}} [4 | p_{1} | 3 \rangle} \right] | \mathbf{1}_{v} \rangle$$
$$= \langle \mathbf{2}_{v} | \left[v | 4 \right] \langle 3 | \frac{q_{3} \cdot q_{4}}{m_{q_{3} + q_{4}} [4 | p_{1} | 3 \rangle} + \frac{w \cdot S}{m_{q_{3} + q_{4}}} \right] | \mathbf{1}_{v} \rangle,$$
(5.13c)

and

$$w_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \equiv 2p_1 \cdot q_3 \frac{|3\rangle_{\alpha} [4|_{\dot{\alpha}}}{[4|p_1|3\rangle}, \quad w^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} = 2p_1 \cdot q_3 \frac{|4|^{\alpha} \langle 3|^{\alpha}}{[4|p_1|3\rangle}.$$
 (5.13d)

 \mathcal{N}_2 is the term that contributes spurious poles for high enough spins. The contraction $w \cdot S$ has been defined through eq. (2.15a). The momentum w^{μ} scales linearly with \hbar , so the contraction $w \cdot S$ does not scale with \hbar . Compared to this term, the first term in \mathcal{N}_2 is subleading in \hbar . Ignoring it in the classical limit, and noting that binomial combinatoric factors must be absorbed into the spin-vector when it is raised to some power, the remaining terms imply an exponential spin structure:

$$\mathcal{M}^{\text{cl.}}(-\mathbf{1}^{s},\mathbf{2}^{s},q_{3}^{-2},q_{4}^{+2}) = \frac{(-1)^{2s}}{m^{2s}}\mathcal{M}(-\mathbf{1}^{0},\mathbf{2}^{0},q_{3}^{-2},q_{4}^{+2})\langle\mathbf{2}_{v}|^{2s}\exp\left[\frac{(q_{4}-q_{3}+w)\cdot S}{m}\right]|\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle^{2s}.$$
(5.14)

The same exponentiation holds in the electromagnetic case, with the spinless amplitude above replaced by the corresponding spinless amplitude for QED.

The leading \hbar scaling for these amplitudes is \hbar^{-1} whereas naïve counting of the vertices and propagators says that the scaling should be \hbar^{-2} . The source of this discrepancy is interference between the two factorization channels, yielding a factor in the numerator of $p_1 \cdot (\hbar \bar{q}_3 + \hbar \bar{q}_4) = \hbar^2 \bar{q}_3 \cdot \bar{q}_4$. It is thus possible for the naïve \hbar counting to over-count inverse powers of \hbar , and hence overestimate the classicality of an amplitude. This has consequences for the extension of these results to the emission of n bosons: factorization channels with a cut graviton line are naïvely suppressed by one factor of \hbar relative to those with cut matter lines. The interference described here means that both factorizations may actually have the same leading \hbar behavior.

Consider now the same-helicity amplitudes. The two-negative-helicity amplitude for spin-1 has been computed by one of the present authors in ref. [58] by shifting one massive and one massless leg. Extending the amplitude found there to spin s,

$$\mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^{s}, \mathbf{2}^{s}, q_{3}^{-1}, q_{4}^{-1}) = \frac{1}{m^{2s}} \mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^{0}, \mathbf{2}^{0}, q_{3}^{-1}, q_{4}^{-1})[\mathbf{21}]^{2s},$$
(5.15a)

$$\mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^0, \mathbf{2}^0, q_3^{-1}, q_4^{-1}) = \frac{e^2 m^2 \langle 34 \rangle^2}{\langle 3|p_1|3] \langle 4|p_1|4]}.$$
(5.15b)

We have replaced the coupling in ref. [58] with e^2 , as is appropriate for QED. Expressing this in terms of on-shell HPET variables, we find

$$\mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^{s},\mathbf{2}^{s},q_{3}^{-1},q_{4}^{-1}) = \frac{1}{m^{2s}}\mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^{0},\mathbf{2}^{0},q_{3}^{-1},q_{4}^{-1})[\mathbf{2}_{v}|^{2s}\left(\mathbb{I}-\frac{(q_{3}+q_{4})\cdot S}{m_{q_{3}+q_{4}}}\right)^{2s}|\mathbf{1}_{v}|^{2s}.$$
 (5.16)

The spin-dependence immediately becomes explicit after the change of variables. The exponential spin structure is obvious:

$$\mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^{s},\mathbf{2}^{s},q_{3}^{-1},q_{4}^{-1}) = \frac{1}{m^{2s}}\mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^{0},\mathbf{2}^{0},q_{3}^{-1},q_{4}^{-1})[\mathbf{2}_{v}|^{2s}\exp\left[-\frac{(q_{3}+q_{4})\cdot S}{m_{q_{3}+q_{4}}}\right]|\mathbf{1}_{v}]^{2s}.$$
 (5.17)

When the gyromagnetic ratio g = 2, the arbitrary spin $s = s_1 + s_2$ gravitational Compton amplitude is proportional to the product between the spin s_1 and s_2 electromagnetic amplitudes [59–61]. As we have constructed the electromagnetic Compton amplitude using the minimal coupling three-point amplitude, this condition is satisfied. The same-helicity gravitational Compton amplitude is thus

$$\mathcal{M}(-\mathbf{1}^{s},\mathbf{2}^{s},q_{3}^{-2},q_{4}^{-2}) = \frac{1}{m^{2s}}\mathcal{M}(-\mathbf{1}^{0},\mathbf{2}^{0},q_{3}^{-2},q_{4}^{-2})[\mathbf{2}_{v}|^{2s}\exp\left[-\frac{(q_{3}+q_{4})\cdot S}{m_{q_{3}+q_{4}}}\right]|\mathbf{1}_{v}]^{2s},$$
(5.18a)

$$\mathcal{M}(-\mathbf{1}^{0}, \mathbf{2}^{0}, q_{3}^{-2}, q_{4}^{-2}) = \frac{\kappa^{2}}{8e^{4}} \frac{\langle 3|p_{1}|3]\langle 4|p_{1}|4]}{q_{3} \cdot q_{4}} \mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^{0}, \mathbf{2}^{0}, q_{3}^{-1}, q_{4}^{-1})^{2}.$$
(5.18b)

Analogous results hold for the emission of two positive helicity bosons:

$$\mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^{s},\mathbf{2}^{s},q_{3}^{+1},q_{4}^{+1}) = \frac{1}{m^{2s}}\mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^{0},\mathbf{2}^{0},q_{3}^{+1},q_{4}^{+1})\langle \mathbf{2}_{v}|^{2s}\exp\left[\frac{(q_{3}+q_{4})\cdot S}{m_{q_{3}+q_{4}}}\right]|\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle^{2s}, \quad (5.19a)$$

$$\mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^0, \mathbf{2}^0, q_3^{+1}, q_4^{+1}) = \frac{e^2 [34]^2}{\langle 3|p_1|3]\langle 4|p_1|4]},\tag{5.19b}$$

$$\mathcal{M}(-\mathbf{1}^{s},\mathbf{2}^{s},q_{3}^{+2},q_{4}^{+2}) = \frac{1}{m^{2s}}\mathcal{M}(-\mathbf{1}^{0},\mathbf{2}^{0},q_{3}^{+2},q_{4}^{+2})\langle\mathbf{2}_{v}|^{2s}\exp\left[\frac{(q_{3}+q_{4})\cdot S}{m_{q_{3}+q_{4}}}\right]|\mathbf{1}_{v}\rangle^{2s},$$
(5.19c)

$$\mathcal{M}(-\mathbf{1}^{0}, \mathbf{2}^{0}, q_{3}^{+2}, q_{4}^{+2}) = \frac{\kappa^{2}}{8e^{4}} \frac{\langle 3|p_{1}|3]\langle 4|p_{1}|4]}{q_{3} \cdot q_{4}} \mathcal{A}(-\mathbf{1}^{0}, \mathbf{2}^{0}, q_{3}^{+1}, q_{4}^{+1})^{2}.$$
(5.19d)

Taking the classical limit, we can simply replace $m_{q_3+q_4} \to m$ to obtain the leading \hbar behavior of these amplitudes.

To see that the spin-dependence of the leading \hbar portions of the amplitudes in this section factorize into a product of the three-point amplitudes, note that

$$[q_i \cdot S, q_j \cdot S]_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = -\left(v \cdot q_{[i}q_{j]} \cdot S - iq_i^{\mu}q_j^{\nu}J_{\mu\nu}\right)_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = \mathcal{O}(\hbar),$$
(5.20)

where square brackets around indices represent normalized anti-symmeterization of the indices. We can thus combine exponentials and split exponentials of sums only at the cost of subleading-in- \hbar corrections.

The on-shell HPET variables have made it immediate that the spin exponentiates in the same-helicity Compton amplitudes, and this exponentiation is preserved in the $\hbar \to 0$ limit. In the opposite helicity case, the composite nature of higher spin particles can be seen to influence dynamics already at the leading \hbar level. It does so through the contraction $w \cdot S$ for the unphysical momentum w^{μ} , which appears in a spin exponential in the leading \hbar term. The focus in this section has been on the emission of two bosons, but we will now show that the exponentiation in the same-helicity case extends to the *n* bosons scenario.

5.4 Emission of n bosons

We can generalize the exponentiation of the spin observed in the same-helicity Compton amplitudes. In particular, focusing on integer spins for simplicity, we show that for the tree-level emission of n same-helicity bosons with a common helicity h from a heavy spin-sparticle, the amplitude satisfies

$$M_{n+2}^{s} = \frac{(-1)^{nh}}{m^{2s}} M_{n+2}^{s=0} \langle \mathbf{2}_{v} |^{2s} \exp\left[\frac{1}{m_{q}} \frac{h}{|h|} \sum_{i=1}^{n} q_{i} \cdot S\right] |\mathbf{1}_{v} \rangle^{2s}$$
(5.21)

$$= \frac{(-1)^{nh}}{m^{2s}} M_{n+2}^{s=0} [\mathbf{2}_v]^{2s} \exp\left[\frac{1}{m_q} \frac{h}{|h|} \sum_{i=1}^n q_i \cdot S\right] |\mathbf{1}_v]^{2s}.$$

We use $q \equiv \sum_{i=1}^{n} q_i$ throughout this section. Once we have proven the first line, the second follows from the fact that the velocity commutes with the spin-vector. The easiest way to proceed is inductively, constructing the n+2 point amplitude using BCFW recursion. The cases n = 1, 2 were the focus of previous sections. Note that the result holds for n = 1 even when $k_1 \neq 0$, since a non-zero k_1 results in an additional subleading $\mathcal{O}(\hbar^2)$ term.

First, note that when expressed in terms of traditional on-shell variables, the spin dependence in eq. (5.21) is simply

$$\langle \mathbf{21} \rangle^{2s} = \langle \mathbf{2}_v |^{2s} \exp\left(\frac{q \cdot S}{m_q}\right) |\mathbf{1}_v\rangle^{2s} = [\mathbf{2}_v |^{2s} \exp\left(\frac{q \cdot S}{m_q}\right) |\mathbf{1}_v]^{2s}, \quad \text{for } h > 0, \quad (5.22a)$$

$$[\mathbf{21}]^{2s} = [\mathbf{2}_v]^{2s} \exp\left(-\frac{q \cdot S}{m_q}\right) |\mathbf{1}_v]^{2s} = \langle \mathbf{2}_v|^{2s} \exp\left(-\frac{q \cdot S}{m_q}\right) |\mathbf{1}_v\rangle^{2s}, \quad \text{for } h < 0.$$
(5.22b)

Thus the problem becomes to prove that the spin dependence is isolated in these spinor contractions. Having already proven this for the base cases, let us now assume it holds up to the emission of n-1 bosons and show that this implies the relations for the emission of n bosons. Constructing the n + 2-point amplitude using BCFW, the amplitude takes the general form

$$M_{n+2}^{s} = \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \sum_{\sigma(k)} \left[\hat{M}_{\sigma(k),k+2}^{s,I} \frac{i\epsilon_{IJ}}{P_{1,\sigma(k)}^{2}} \hat{M}_{\sigma(n-k),n-k+2}^{s,J} + \sum_{h=\pm} \hat{M}_{\sigma(k),k+3}^{s,h} \frac{i}{P_{0,\sigma(k)}^{2}} \hat{M}_{\sigma(n-k),n-k+1}^{-h} \right],$$
(5.23)

where $P_{1,\sigma(k)} \equiv p_1 + \sum_{i=1}^{k} q_{\rho(i,\sigma(k))} \equiv p_1 + P_{0,\sigma(k)}$. The permutations $\sigma(k)$ and $\sigma(n-k)$ account for all the ways of organizing the boson legs into k+2 and n-k+2 point amplitudes, in which shifted legs are never in the same sub-amplitude. $\rho(i,\sigma(k))$ denotes the i^{th} index in the permutation $\sigma(k)$. The notation \hat{M} reminds us that the sub-amplitudes are functions of shifted momenta. The first term in eq. (5.23) represents factorizations where a massive propagator is on-shell, whereas the second accounts for a massless propagator going on-shell — h in this second term is the helicity of the cut boson.

We will treat each term in eq. (5.23) separately. We begin with the first term, which is the only contribution for QED. For the case of n positive-helicity bosons, we shift $|\mathbf{1}|$ and, say, $|q_1\rangle$ as in ref. [58]. Then, applying the induction hypothesis, this term is

$$\frac{(-1)^{nh}}{m^{4s}} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \sum_{\sigma(k)} \hat{M}^{s=0,I}_{\sigma(k),k+2} \frac{i}{P^2_{1,\sigma(k)}} \hat{M}^{s=0,J}_{\sigma(n-k),n-k+2} \langle \mathbf{2}\hat{P}^I_{1,\sigma(k)} \rangle^{2s} \langle \hat{P}_{1,\sigma(k)I} \mathbf{1} \rangle^{2s}
= \frac{(-1)^{nh}}{m^{2s}} \langle \mathbf{21} \rangle^{2s} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \sum_{\sigma(k)} \hat{M}^{s=0,I}_{\sigma(k),k+2} \frac{i}{P^2_{1,\sigma(k)}} \hat{M}^{s=0,J}_{\sigma(n-k),n-k+2}.$$
(5.24)

The case of *n* negative-helicity bosons can be shown similarly by shifting $|1\rangle$ and, say, $|q_1|$. In particular, choosing an appropriate shift of one massive and one massless leg results in no massive shift appearing in the sub-amplitudes. Applying eq. (5.22) to this, the form of the first term in eq. (5.23) is therefore

$$\frac{(-1)^{nh}}{m^{2s}} \langle \mathbf{2}_v |^{2s} \exp\left[\frac{1}{m_q} \frac{h}{|h|} \sum_{i=1}^n q_i \cdot S\right] |\mathbf{1}_v \rangle^{2s} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \sum_{\sigma(k)} \hat{M}^{s=0}_{\sigma(k),k+2} \frac{i}{P^2_{1,\sigma(k)}} \hat{M}^{s=0}_{\sigma(n-k),n-k+2}.$$
 (5.25)

The remaining sum here is the BCFW form of the amplitude for *n*-photon emission from a massive scalar. Thus we have proven eq. (5.21) for the photon case.

The non-linear nature of gravity allows contributions from the second term in eq. (5.23). The contribution of this term to the amplitude is predictable for unique-helicity configurations. The only non-vanishing factorization channels will involve the product of (n-1)+2 point amplitudes with n-1 same-helicity gravitons, and a three-graviton amplitude with one distinct helicity graviton, which is the cut graviton. For example, consider the all-plus helicity amplitude. Applying the induction hypothesis,

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \sum_{\sigma(k)} \sum_{h=\pm} \hat{\mathcal{M}}_{\sigma(k),k+3}^{s,h} \frac{i}{P_{0,\sigma(k)}^{2}} \hat{\mathcal{M}}_{\sigma(n-k),n-k+1}^{-h} \bigg|_{\text{cl.}} = \sum_{\sigma(n-2)} \hat{\mathcal{M}}_{\sigma(n-2),n+1}^{s,+} \frac{i}{P_{0,\sigma(n-2)}^{2}} \hat{\mathcal{M}}_{\sigma(2),3}^{-} \bigg|_{\text{cl.}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{m^{2s}} \langle \mathbf{2}_{v} \big|^{2s} \exp\left[\frac{1}{m_{q}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} q_{i} \cdot S\right] |\mathbf{1}_{v} \rangle^{2s} \sum_{\sigma(n-2)} \hat{\mathcal{M}}_{\sigma(n-2),n+1}^{s=0,+} \frac{i}{P_{0,\sigma(n-2)}^{2}} \hat{\mathcal{M}}_{\sigma(2),3}^{-}.$$
(5.26)

We have used momentum conservation to write the cut momentum in terms of the sum of the momenta of the gravitons in the all-graviton subamplitude. The argument is identical in the all-negative case. Adding eqs. (5.25) and (5.26) and identifying the remaining sums of sub-amplitudes as the scalar amplitude for the emission of n + 2 gravitons, we find

$$\mathcal{M}_{n+2}^{s} = \frac{1}{m^{2s}} \mathcal{M}_{n+2}^{s=0} \langle \mathbf{2}_{v} |^{2s} \exp\left[\frac{1}{m_{q}} \frac{h}{|h|} \sum_{i=1}^{n} q_{i} \cdot S\right] |\mathbf{1}_{v} \rangle^{2s}$$

$$= \frac{1}{m^{2s}} \mathcal{M}_{n+2}^{s=0} [\mathbf{2}_{v} |^{2s} \exp\left[\frac{1}{m_{q}} \frac{h}{|h|} \sum_{i=1}^{n} q_{i} \cdot S\right] |\mathbf{1}_{v} |^{2s}.$$
(5.27)

In amplitudes where this spin universality is manifest, we can eliminate the dependence on the specific states used by taking the infinite spin and classical limits of the result,

$$\lim_{\substack{s \to \infty \\ h \to 0}} M_{n+2}^s = M_{n+2}^{s=0} \exp\left[\frac{1}{m} \frac{h}{|h|} \sum_{i=1}^n q_i \cdot S\right],$$
(5.28)

where we have used that $\lim_{\hbar\to 0} p_{v,2}^{\mu} = \lim_{\hbar\to 0} p_{v,1}^{\mu} = mv^{\mu}$ to apply on-shell conditions. This makes contact between the classical limit of the kinematics, and the classical spin limit: for tree-level same-helicity boson emission processes, the spin dependence of the leading-in- \hbar term factorizes into factors of the classical three-point spin-dependence.

6 Summary and outlook

We have presented an on-shell formulation of HPETs by expressing their asymptotic states as a linear combination of the chiral and anti-chiral massive on-shell helicity variables of ref. [39]. This expression automatically takes into account the infinite tower of higherdimensional operators present in HPETs, which result from the integrating out of the anti-field. The variables defined in this manner possess manifest spin multipole and \hbar expansions. Consequently, using the most general three-point amplitude of ref. [39], we have been able to derive a closed form for the amplitude arising from the sum of all threepoint operators in an arbitrary spin HPET. This form of the amplitude has been checked explicitly up to NNLO in the operator expansion of spin-1/2 HQET and HBET. We will also show in appendix E that the extension to higher spins is suitable for describing the three-point amplitude for zero initial residual momentum for a heavy spin-1 particle coupled to electromagnetism.

We have shown that the spin-multipole expansion of minimally coupled heavy particles corresponds exactly to a truncated Kerr black hole expansion when the initial residual momentum is set to zero. This has been done in two ways. First, we exponentiated the spin dependence of the minimally coupled three-point amplitude in section 3.4. Doing so directly produced the same spin exponential as that in refs. [25, 53] for a Kerr black hole coupled to a graviton. Unlike previous approaches, no further manipulation of the three-point amplitude was needed to match to refs. [25, 53]. An exact match to all spin orders was achieved in the infinite spin limit. An alternative approach to matching the Kerr

black hole multipole moments was carried out in refs. [11, 45], by matching to the EFT of ref. [14]. Following this matching procedure but using on-shell HPET variables, an exact match to the Kerr black hole Wilson coefficients was achieved without the need to take an infinite spin limit. The reason that the three-point amplitude in on-shell HPET variables immediately matches the Kerr black hole multipole expansion is that the heavy spinors representing the initial and final states are both associated with the same momentum, which is identified with that of the black hole.

We set out to provide a framework that would enable the extension of HPETs to higher spins, and to enable the application of HPETs to the computation of higher order classical amplitudes. As a step in this direction, we applied recursion relations to the minimal coupling amplitude for heavy particles to build arbitrary-spin higher-point tree amplitudes. Doing so, we showed that the explicit \hbar and spin multipole expansions at three points remained manifest in all amplitudes considered. We also easily constructed the tree-level boson exchange amplitude to all orders in spin for QED and GR, without having to further manipulate the states to produce the correct classical black hole spin multipole expansion.

Moving on to radiative processes, we showed that the same-helicity electromagnetic and gravitational Compton amplitudes exhibit a spin universality: they can be written as

$$M_4^s = M_4^{s=0} \langle \mathbf{2}_v |^{2s} \exp\left[\frac{1}{m_{q_1+q_2}} \frac{h}{|h|} \sum_{i=1}^2 q_i \cdot S\right] |\mathbf{1}_v \rangle^{2s}.$$
 (6.1)

This universality extends to the emission of n same-helicity bosons (eq. (5.21)). In the fourpoint opposite-helicity case, a similar exponential was obtained only in the classical limit. However the sum in the exponential also included an unphysical momentum contracted with the spin, representing the non-uniqueness of the amplitude for large enough spins. It would be interesting to examine whether the opposite-helicity amplitude possesses an n-boson extension analogous to eq. (5.21). Another natural extension is to study how the leading \hbar behaviour changes when a second matter line is included in radiation processes; this is relevant to the understanding of non-conservative effects in spinning binaries. The understanding of radiative processes is paramount to the PM amplitude program, as the construction of higher PM amplitudes using unitarity methods requires knowledge of treelevel radiative amplitudes. Combining radiative amplitudes with the \hbar counting of the on-shell HPET variables in a unitarity-based approach, the classical limits of amplitudes can be easily identified and taken before integration to simplify computations of classical loop amplitudes including spin.

Because of the topicality of the subject, we have focused in the main body of this paper on the application of these variables to their interpretation as spinning black holes and the construction of classical tree-level amplitudes. Nevertheless, they are equally applicable to the QCD systems which HQET was formulated to describe. Moreover an on-shell perspective is useful for the understanding of HPETs as a whole. Indeed, we take an on-shell approach in the appendices to make further statements about HPETs.

Acknowledgments

We thank Paolo Benincasa, N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, Andrea Cristofoli, Poul H. Damgaard, Jung-Wook Kim, Michèle Levi, Alexander Ochirov, and Justin Vines for useful discussions. We also thank Manuel Accettulli Huber and Michèle Levi for comments on the manuscript. This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No. 764850 "SAGEX". The work of A.H. was supported in part by the Danish National Research Foundation (DNRF91) and the Carlsberg Foundation. The work of R.A. was supported by the Alexander von Humboldt Foundation, in the framework of the Sofja Kovalevskaja Award 2016, endowed by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research and also supported by the Cluster of Excellence "Precision Physics, Fundamental Interactions, and Structure of Matter" (PRISMA⁺ EXC 2118/1) funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG) within the German Excellence Strategy (Project ID 39083149).

A Conventions

We list here our conventions for reference. In the Weyl basis, the Dirac gamma matrices take the explicit form

$$\gamma^{\mu} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & (\sigma^{\mu})_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \\ (\bar{\sigma}^{\mu})^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{A.1}$$

where $\sigma^{\mu} = (1, \sigma^{i}), \ \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} = (1, -\sigma^{i}), \ \text{and} \ \sigma^{i}$ are the Pauli matrices. The gamma matrices obey the Clifford algebra $\{\gamma^{\mu}, \gamma^{\nu}\} = 2\eta^{\mu\nu}$. We use the mostly minus metric convention, $\eta^{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}\{+, -, -, -\}$. The fifth gamma matrix is defined as

$$\gamma_5 \equiv i\gamma^0\gamma^1\gamma^2\gamma^3 = \begin{pmatrix} -\mathbb{I} & 0\\ 0 & \mathbb{I} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (A.2)

The generator of Lorentz transforms is

$$J^{\mu\nu} = \frac{i}{4} [\gamma^{\mu}, \gamma^{\nu}]. \tag{A.3}$$

We express massless momenta in terms of on-shell variables:

$$q_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \equiv q^{\mu}(\sigma_{\mu})_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \lambda_{\alpha}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \equiv |\lambda\rangle_{\alpha}[\lambda|_{\dot{\alpha}}, \qquad (A.4a)$$

$$q^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} \equiv q^{\mu}(\sigma_{\mu})^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} = \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}\lambda^{\alpha} \equiv |\lambda|^{\dot{\alpha}}\langle\lambda|^{\alpha}.$$
(A.4b)

Here α , $\dot{\alpha}$ are SL(2, \mathbb{C}) spinor indices. Spinor brackets are formed by contracting the spinor indices,

$$\langle \lambda_1 \lambda_2 \rangle \equiv \langle \lambda_1 |^{\alpha} | \lambda_2 \rangle_{\alpha}, \tag{A.5}$$

$$[\lambda_1 \lambda_2] \equiv [\lambda_1|_{\dot{\alpha}} |\lambda_2]^{\dot{\alpha}}.$$
 (A.6)

For massive momenta, we have that

$$p_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \lambda_{\alpha}{}^{I}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}I} \equiv |\lambda\rangle_{\alpha}^{I}[\lambda|_{\dot{\alpha}I}, \qquad (A.7a)$$

$$p^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} = \tilde{\lambda}_{I}^{\dot{\alpha}} \lambda^{\alpha I} \equiv |\lambda|_{I}^{\dot{\alpha}} \langle \lambda|^{\alpha I}, \tag{A.7b}$$

where I is an SU(2) little group index. Spinor brackets for massive momenta are also formed by contracting spinor indices, identically to the massless case. We also use the bold notation introduced in ref. [39] to suppress the symmetrization over SU(2) indices in amplitudes:

$$\langle \mathbf{2}q_1 \rangle \langle \mathbf{2}q_2 \rangle \equiv \begin{cases} \langle 2^I q_1 \rangle \langle 2^J q_2 \rangle & I = J, \\ \langle 2^I q_1 \rangle \langle 2^J q_2 \rangle + \langle 2^J q_1 \rangle \langle 2^I q_2 \rangle & I \neq J. \end{cases}$$
(A.8)

The Levi-Civita symbol, used to raise and lower spinor and SU(2) little group indices, is defined by

$$\epsilon^{12} = -\epsilon_{12} = 1. \tag{A.9}$$

Spinor and SU(2) indices are raised and lowered by contracting with the second index on the Levi-Civita symbol. For example,

$$\lambda^{I} = \epsilon^{IJ} \lambda_{J}, \quad \lambda_{I} = \epsilon_{IJ} \lambda^{J}. \tag{A.10}$$

The on-shell conditions for the massive helicity variables are

$$\lambda^{\alpha I}\lambda_{\alpha J} = m\delta^{I}{}_{J}, \qquad \lambda^{\alpha I}\lambda_{\alpha}{}^{J} = -m\epsilon^{IJ}, \quad \lambda^{\alpha}{}_{I}\lambda_{\alpha J} = m\epsilon_{IJ}, \tag{A.11a}$$

$$\tilde{\lambda}^{I}_{\dot{\alpha}}\tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}_{J} = -m\delta^{I}{}_{J}, \quad \tilde{\lambda}^{I}_{\dot{\alpha}}\tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}J} = m\epsilon^{IJ}, \qquad \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}I}\tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}_{J} = -m\epsilon_{IJ}.$$
(A.11b)

Given eq. (2.4), we can derive the on-shell conditions of the HPET variables, analogous to eq. (A.11). We find

$$\lambda_v^{\alpha I} \lambda_{v\alpha J} = m_k \delta^I{}_J, \qquad \qquad \lambda_v^{\alpha I} \lambda_{v\alpha}{}^J = -m_k \epsilon^{IJ}, \qquad \qquad \lambda_{vI}^{\alpha} \lambda_{v\alpha J} = m_k \epsilon_{IJ}, \qquad (A.12a)$$

$$\tilde{\lambda}_{v\dot{\alpha}}^{I}\tilde{\lambda}_{vJ}^{\dot{\alpha}} = -m_k\delta^{I}{}_{J}, \qquad \tilde{\lambda}_{v\dot{\alpha}}^{I}\tilde{\lambda}_{v}^{\dot{\alpha}J} = m_k\epsilon^{IJ}, \qquad \tilde{\lambda}_{v\dot{\alpha}I}\tilde{\lambda}_{vJ}^{\dot{\alpha}} = -m_k\epsilon_{IJ}, \qquad (A.12b)$$

where

$$m_k \equiv \left(1 - \frac{k^2}{4m^2}\right)m. \tag{A.12c}$$

In appendix C we will decompose massive momenta into two massless momenta, as in eq. (C.1). When identifying

$$\lambda_{\alpha}^{1} = |a\rangle_{\alpha}, \quad \lambda_{\alpha}^{2} = |b\rangle_{\alpha},$$
 (A.13a)

$$\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}1} = [a|_{\dot{\alpha}}, \quad \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}2} = [b|_{\dot{\alpha}},$$
 (A.13b)

we use $\langle ba \rangle = [ab] = m$.

On-shell variables can be assigned to the upper and lower Weyl components of a Dirac spinor so that the spinors satisfy the Dirac equation [11],

$$u^{I}(p) = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_{\alpha}^{\ I} \\ \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}I} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \bar{u}_{I}(p) = \begin{pmatrix} -\lambda^{\alpha}{}_{I} \ \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}I} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{A.14}$$

where p is expressed in terms of λ and $\tilde{\lambda}$ as in eq. (A.7).

Using analytic continuation, under a sign flip of the momentum, the on-shell variables transform as

$$|-\mathbf{p}\rangle = -|\mathbf{p}\rangle, \ |-\mathbf{p}] = |\mathbf{p}|,$$
 (A.15a)

which means

$$|-\mathbf{p}_{v}\rangle = |\mathbf{p}_{-v}\rangle = -|\mathbf{p}_{v}\rangle, \quad |-\mathbf{p}_{v}] = |\mathbf{p}_{-v}] = |\mathbf{p}_{v}|.$$
 (A.15b)

B Uniqueness of on-shell HPET variables

In this section, we address the question of uniqueness of the on-shell HPET variables as defined in eq. (2.4). In particular, we relate the on-shell HPET variables $|\mathbf{p}_v\rangle$ and $|\mathbf{p}_v|$ to the traditional on-shell variables under two conditions:

1. The new variables describe a very massive spin-1/2 state that acts as a source for mediating bosons, meaning that the velocity of the state is approximately constant. Since the motion of the particle is always very closely approximated by its velocity, we demand that the new variables satisfy the Dirac equation for a velocity v^{μ} and mass $v^2 = 1$:

$$\psi |\mathbf{p}_v\rangle = |\mathbf{p}_v|, \quad \psi |\mathbf{p}_v] = |\mathbf{p}_v\rangle.$$
 (B.1)

Clearly these relations can be scaled to give the state an arbitrary mass.

2. When describing a heavy particle with mass m and velocity v^{μ} , the new variables must reduce to the traditional on-shell variables with $p^{\mu} = mv^{\mu}$ when k = 0.

We express the on-shell HPET variables in the basis of traditional on-shell variables:

The fact that the functions a, b, Γ_1, Γ_2 can, without loss of generality, be assumed to be functions of only k^{μ} (and m) follows from on-shellness and the Dirac equation. Any dependence on v^{μ} must be either in a scalar form, $v \cdot v = 1$ or $v \cdot k = -k^2/2m$, or in matrix form \not{v} , which can be eliminated for \not{k}/m using the Dirac equation for \not{v} . This also means that we can rewrite $\Gamma_{1,2}^{\mu} = c_{1,2}(k)k^{\mu}$, where the $c_i(k)$ are scalars and potentially functions of k^2 . Moreover, given that a and b are functions only of k, they must also be scalars; the only possible matrix combinations they can contain to preserve the correct spinor indices are even powers of k, which would reduce to some power of k^2 . Condition 2 provides a final constraint on these four functions:

$$a(0) = b(0) = 1, (B.3a)$$

$$\Gamma_1(0) = \Gamma_2(0) = 0.$$
 (B.3b)

Since $\Gamma_i^{\mu} = c_i(k)k^{\mu}$, the second line imposes that the $c_i(k)$ are regular at k = 0. From now on we drop the arguments of these functions for brevity.

Applying condition 1 to eqs. (B.2), we derive relations among the four functions a, b, c_1, c_2 :

$$b = a, \tag{B.4a}$$

$$c_2 = -\frac{a}{m} - c_1. \tag{B.4b}$$

The most general on-shell HPET variables are thus

$$|\mathbf{p}_v\rangle = a|\mathbf{p}\rangle + c_1 k|\mathbf{p}|,\tag{B.5a}$$

$$|\mathbf{p}_{v}] = a|\mathbf{p}] - \left(\frac{a}{m} + c_{1}\right) \not||\mathbf{p}\rangle.$$
(B.5b)

The momentum associated with these states is

$$p_{v} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & |p_{v}\rangle^{I}{}_{I}[p_{v}| \\ |p_{v}]_{I}{}^{I}\langle p_{v}| & 0 \end{pmatrix} = m \left[a^{2} + c_{1} \left(\frac{a}{m} + c_{1} \right) k^{2} \right] \psi.$$
(B.6)

The functions a and c_1 cannot be constrained further by conditions 1 and 2. However we can choose $c_1 = -a/2m$ to describe non-chiral interactions. Then, from an off-shell point of view, the function a simply corresponds to the (potentially non-local) field redefinition $Q \to Q/a$ in the spin-1/2 HPET Lagrangian. We are free to redefine our fields such that a = 1. The final result is

$$|\mathbf{p}_v\rangle = |\mathbf{p}\rangle - \frac{k}{2m}|\mathbf{p}|,$$
 (B.7a)

$$\mathbf{p}_{v}] = |\mathbf{p}] - \frac{k}{2m} |\mathbf{p}\rangle. \tag{B.7b}$$

Thus we recover the on-shell HPET variables in eq. (2.4). We conclude that, up to scaling by an overall function of k^2 , eq. (2.4) is the unique decomposition in terms of traditional variables of non-chiral heavy particle states. The overall scalings correspond to field redefinitions in the Lagrangian formulation.

C Reparameterization and the little group

As is apparent from eq. (2.1), reparameterization transformations leave p^{μ} unchanged. It is therefore reasonable to expect that there exists a relation between reparameterizations and the little group of p^{μ} . There is indeed a relationship between infinitesimal little group transformations of $\lambda_{\alpha}{}^{I}$ and $\tilde{\lambda}_{I}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ and reparameterizations of the total momentum. The focus of this section is the derivation of such a connection, which is easy to explore by employing the so-called Light Cone Decomposition (LCD) [62, 63] of massive momenta.

The LCD allows any massive momentum to be written as a sum of two massless momenta. That is, for a momentum p^{μ} of mass m, there exist two massless momenta a^{μ} and b^{μ} such that

$$p^{\mu} = a^{\mu} + b^{\mu}.$$
 (C.1)

When p^{μ} is real, we can assume without loss of generality that a^{μ} and b^{μ} are real as well, since any imaginary components must cancel anyway. The condition $p^2 = m^2$ then implies $a \cdot b = m^2/2$. Expressing this in on-shell variables,

$$p_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \lambda_{\alpha}{}^{I}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}I} = |a\rangle_{\alpha}[a|_{\dot{\alpha}} + |b\rangle_{\alpha}[b|_{\dot{\alpha}}, \qquad (C.2a)$$

$$p^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} = \tilde{\lambda}_I^{\dot{\alpha}} \lambda^{\alpha I} = |a|^{\dot{\alpha}} \langle a|^{\alpha} + |b|^{\dot{\alpha}} \langle b|^{\alpha}.$$
(C.2b)

This allows us to make the identifications

$$\lambda_{\alpha}{}^{1} = |a\rangle_{\alpha}, \quad \lambda_{\alpha}{}^{2} = |b\rangle_{\alpha}, \quad \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}1} = [a|_{\dot{\alpha}}, \quad \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}2} = [b|_{\dot{\alpha}}.$$
 (C.2c)

In the spirit of the momentum decomposition in eq. (2.1) we can break this up into a large and a small part

$$p^{\mu} = \alpha a^{\mu} + \beta b^{\mu} + (1 - \alpha)a^{\mu} + (1 - \beta)b^{\mu}, \qquad (C.3)$$

where $|\alpha|, |\beta| \sim 1$. We identify

$$mv^{\mu} \equiv \alpha a^{\mu} + \beta b^{\mu}, \quad k^{\mu} \equiv (1 - \alpha)a^{\mu} + (1 - \beta)b^{\mu}. \tag{C.4}$$

Since v^{μ} is a four-velocity, it must satify $v^2 = 1$, which constrains α and β to obey $\alpha\beta = 1$. Once we require this, the on-shell condition that $2mv \cdot k = -k^2$ is automatically imposed.

Now, consider a reparameterization of the momentum as in eq. (2.10). We can use the LCD to rewrite the shift momentum as

$$\delta k^{\mu} = c^{\mu} + d^{\mu}, \tag{C.5}$$

where $|c + d|/m \ll 1$. For this to be a reparameterization, the new velocity $v^{\mu} + \delta k^{\mu}/m$ must have magnitude 1, which means c^{μ} and d^{μ} must be such that

$$(\alpha a + \beta b) \cdot (c + d) = -c \cdot d. \tag{C.6}$$

Contracting the shift momentum with the gamma matrices and using the Schouten identity,

$$\delta k_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} = \frac{2}{m^2} b \cdot (c+d) |a\rangle_{\alpha} [a|_{\dot{\alpha}} + \frac{2}{m^2} a \cdot (c+d) |b\rangle_{\alpha} [b]_{\dot{\alpha}} - \frac{[a|(\not{e} + \not{d})|b\rangle}{m^2} |a\rangle_{\alpha} [b|_{\dot{\alpha}} - \frac{[b|(\not{e} + \not{d})|a\rangle}{m^2} |b\rangle_{\alpha} [a|_{\dot{\alpha}}.$$
(C.7)

Note that setting k = 0 is always allowed for an on-shell momentum by reparameterization: indeed, choosing $c^{\mu} = (1 - \alpha)a^{\mu}$ and $d^{\mu} = (1 - \beta)b^{\mu}$ trivially satisfies eq. (C.6).

Consider an infinitesimal little group transformation of the on-shell variables W^{I}_{J} where $W \in SU(2)$. Then we can write

$$W^{I}{}_{J} = \mathbb{I}^{I}{}_{J} + i\epsilon^{j}U^{jI}{}_{J}, \tag{C.8}$$

where ϵ^{j} are real and infinitesimal parameters, and $U^{jI}{}_{J}$ is traceless and Hermitian. We suppress the color index j below. Under this transformation, the on-shell variables transform as [39]

$$\lambda_{\alpha}{}^{I} \to W^{I}{}_{J}\lambda_{\alpha}{}^{J}, \tag{C.9a}$$

$$\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}I} \to (W^{-1})^J{}_I \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}J}.$$
(C.9b)

Up to linear order in the infinitesimal parameter, the momentum transforms as

$$p_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \lambda_{\alpha}{}^{I}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}I} \rightarrow (1 + i\epsilon U^{1}{}_{1})\lambda_{\alpha}{}^{1}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}1} + (1 + i\epsilon U^{2}{}_{2})\lambda_{\alpha}{}^{2}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}2} + i\epsilon U^{2}{}_{1}\lambda_{\alpha}{}^{1}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}2} + i\epsilon U^{1}{}_{2}\lambda_{\alpha}{}^{2}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}1} - i\epsilon U^{2}{}_{1}\lambda_{\alpha}{}^{1}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}2} - i\epsilon U^{1}{}_{2}\lambda_{\alpha}{}^{2}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}1} - i\epsilon U^{1}{}_{1}\lambda_{\alpha}{}^{1}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}1} - i\epsilon U^{2}{}_{2}\lambda_{\alpha}{}^{2}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}2}.$$
(C.10)

Comparing with eq. (C.7), we would like to identify the following map to the reparameterization in eq. (2.10):

$$i\epsilon U^{I}{}_{J} \to R^{I}{}_{J} \equiv \frac{1}{m} \begin{pmatrix} 2b \cdot \frac{\delta k}{m} & -[b|\frac{\delta k}{m}|a\rangle \\ -[a|\frac{\delta k}{m}|b\rangle & 2a \cdot \frac{\delta k}{m} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (C.11)

The reparameterization matrix $R^{I}{}_{J}$ is infinitesimal because of the appearance of $\delta k^{\mu}/m$ in each entry. Moreover, $R^{I}{}_{J}$ is traceless up to corrections of order $\mathcal{O}(\delta k^{2}/m^{2})$ because of eq. (C.6). However, we cannot equate it to $i\epsilon U^{I}{}_{J}$ because the latter is always anti-Hermitian, whereas $R^{I}{}_{J}$ need not be. Indeed, when δk^{μ} is real $R^{I}{}_{J}$ is Hermitian, and when δk^{μ} is imaginary it is anti-Hermitian. It can thus be seen that the condition for equality is that δk^{μ} is imaginary:

$$\delta k^{\mu} \in i\mathbb{R} \Rightarrow \mathbb{I}^{I}{}_{J} + R^{I}{}_{J} \in \mathrm{SU}(2), \tag{C.12}$$

where $\mathbb{I}_J^I + R_J^I$ induces the reparameterization in eq. (2.10). It is straightforward to check that this quantity also has determinant 1, up to infinitesimal corrections of order $\mathcal{O}(\delta k^2/m^2)$.

D Propagators

In ref. [64], massive on-shell variables were used to construct propagators for massive spin-1/2 and spin-1 states. In this section, we use the on-shell HPET variables to do the same for a spin $s \leq 2$ state. We find that the propagator for a heavy particle with spin $s \leq 2$ is

$$D_v^s(p_v) = P^s \frac{N^s(p_v)}{p^2 - m^2} P^s,$$
 (D.1)

where P^s is the spin-s projection operator whose eigenstate is the HPET state, and $N^s(p_v)$ is the numerator of the propagator for a massive particle of that spin. By recognizing the form of the numerator, this will allow us to extract the higher spin projection operators. The methods used in this section can be applied to arbitrary spin, but become quite cumbersome as the number of little group invariant objects that must be computed grows as s + 1/2 for half-integer spins, and as s for integer spins. Nevertheless, we are able to use our results to conjecture projection operators for any spin.

Spin-1/2. We begin with the spin-1/2 propagator, which can be constructed as

$$\frac{1}{p^2 - m^2} \left[\binom{|p_v^I\rangle}{|p_v^I|} \epsilon_{IJ} \left(\langle -p_v^J | [-p_v^J] \rangle \right] = P_+ \frac{2m_k}{p^2 - m^2} P_+ = P_+ \frac{1}{\not p - m} P_+.$$
(D.2)

We do indeed recover the projection operator for a heavy spin-1/2 field.

Spin-1. We can do the same for a massive spin-1 field. In this case, we posit that the polarization vector is obtained by replacing $p \to p_v$ and $m \to m_k$ in the usual polarization vector:

$$\varepsilon_{v,\mu}^{IJ}(p) = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}m_k} (\langle p_v^I | \gamma_\mu | p_v^J] + \langle p_v^J | \gamma_\mu | p_v^I]).$$
(D.3)

It is straightforward to see that the polarization vector satisfies the requisite condition on the heavy spin-1 particle, $v \cdot \varepsilon_v^{IJ} = 0$ for $p^{\mu} = mv^{\mu} + k^{\mu}$, as well as the orthonormality condition

$$\varepsilon_v^{IJ} \cdot \varepsilon_v^{LK} = -\frac{1}{2} (\epsilon^{IL} \epsilon^{JK} + \epsilon^{IK} \epsilon^{JL}).$$
 (D.4)

The heavy spin-1 propagator is

$$\frac{1}{p^2 - m^2} \left[\varepsilon_{v,\mu}^{IJ}(p) \epsilon_{IK} \epsilon_{JL} \varepsilon_{v,\nu}^{LK}(-p) \right] = (g_\mu^{\ \lambda} - v_\mu v^\lambda) \frac{-g_{\lambda\sigma} + v_\lambda v_\sigma}{p^2 - m^2} \left(g^\sigma_{\ \nu} - v^\sigma v_\nu \right). \tag{D.5}$$

From this we can read off that the operator projecting onto the heavy spin-1 particle is $P_{-}^{\mu\nu}$ in appendix E.

Spin-3/2. The spin-3/2 polarization tensor is

$$\varepsilon_{v,\mu}^{IJK}(p) = \varepsilon_{v,\mu}^{(IJ} u_v^{K)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}m_k} \langle p_v^{(I} | \gamma_\mu | p_v^J] \begin{pmatrix} | p_v^K \rangle \\ | p_v^K \rangle \\ | p_v^K \rangle \end{bmatrix},$$
(D.6)

where the round brackets around sets of indices denote normalized symmetrization over the indices. Using the symmetry of the spin-1 polarization vector in its little group indices, we have that

$$\varepsilon_{v,\mu}^{IJK}(p) = \frac{1}{3} \left(\varepsilon_{v,\mu}^{IJ} u_v^K + \varepsilon_{v,\mu}^{JK} u_v^I + \varepsilon_{v,\mu}^{IK} u_v^J \right).$$
(D.7)

The propagator is

$$\frac{1}{p^2 - m^2} \left[\varepsilon_{v,\mu}^{IJK}(p) \epsilon_{IA} \epsilon_{JB} \epsilon_{KC} \varepsilon_{v,\nu}^{ABC}(-p) \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{p^2 - m^2} \frac{1}{3} \left(\varepsilon_{v,\mu}^{IJ} \varepsilon_{v,\nu IJ} u_v^K \bar{u}_{v,K} + 2\varepsilon_{v,\mu}^{IJ} \varepsilon_{v,\nu IK} u_v^K \bar{u}_{v,J} \right)$$

$$= -P_+ P_{-,\mu\alpha} \frac{2m_k}{p^2 - m^2} \left[g^{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{3} \gamma^{\alpha} \gamma^{\beta} - \frac{1}{3} (\psi \gamma^{\alpha} v^{\beta} + v^{\alpha} \gamma^{\beta} \psi) \right] P_{-,\beta\nu} P_+. \quad (D.8)$$

We recognize the quantity between the projection operators as the propagator for a massive spin-3/2 particle with momentum $m_k v^{\mu}$ [65, 66]. The heavy spin-3/2 projection operator can thus be identified as

$$P_{\frac{1}{2},-}^{\mu\nu} \equiv P_{+}P_{-}^{\mu\nu}.$$
 (D.9)

Spin-2. The spin-2 polarization tensor is

$$\varepsilon_{v,\mu_1\mu_2}^{I_1J_1I_2J_2}(p) = \varepsilon_{v,\mu_1}^{(I_1J_1}\varepsilon_{v,\mu_2}^{I_2J_2)} = \frac{1}{2m_k^2} \langle p_v^{(I_1}|\gamma_{\mu_1}|p_v^{J_1}] \langle p_v^{I_2}|\gamma_{\mu_2}|p_v^{J_2}].$$
(D.10)

Using the symmetry of each spin-1 polarization vector in its little group indices, we find that

$$\varepsilon_{v,\mu_1\mu_2}^{I_1J_1I_2J_2}(p) = \frac{1}{3} \left(\varepsilon_{v,(\mu_1}^{I_1J_1} \varepsilon_{v,\mu_2}^{I_2J_2} + \varepsilon_{v,(\mu_1}^{I_1I_2} \varepsilon_{v,\mu_2}^{J_1J_2} + \varepsilon_{v,(\mu_1}^{I_1J_2} \varepsilon_{v,\mu_2}^{I_2J_1} \right).$$
(D.11)

The propagator is

$$\frac{1}{p^{2}-m^{2}} \left[\varepsilon_{v,\mu\nu}^{I_{1}J_{1}I_{2}J_{2}}(p) \epsilon_{I_{1}K_{1}} \epsilon_{J_{1}L_{1}} \epsilon_{I_{2}K_{2}} \epsilon_{J_{2}L_{2}} \varepsilon_{v,\alpha\beta}^{K_{1}L_{1}K_{2}L_{2}}(-p) \right] \\
= \frac{1}{p^{2}-m^{2}} \frac{1}{3} \left(\varepsilon_{v,(\mu}^{I_{1}J_{1}} \varepsilon_{v,\nu)}^{I_{2}J_{2}} \varepsilon_{v,\alpha I_{1}J_{1}} \varepsilon_{v,\beta I_{2}J_{2}} + 2\varepsilon_{v,(\mu}^{I_{1}J_{1}} \varepsilon_{v,\nu)}^{I_{2}J_{2}} \varepsilon_{v,\alpha I_{1}J_{2}} \varepsilon_{v,\beta I_{2}J_{1}} \right) \\
= \frac{1}{p^{2}-m^{2}} P_{-,\mu\mu'} P_{-,\nu\nu'} \left[-\frac{1}{2} (P_{-}^{\mu'\alpha'} P_{-}^{\nu'\beta'} + P_{-}^{\mu'\beta'} P_{-}^{\nu'\alpha'}) + \frac{1}{3} P_{-}^{\mu'\nu'} P_{-}^{\alpha'\beta'} \right] P_{-,\alpha'\alpha} P_{-,\beta'\beta}. \tag{D.12}$$

The quantity in square brackets is the numerator of the massive spin-2 propagator with momentum $m_k v^{\mu}$ [67]. We therefore identify the heavy spin-2 projection operator:

$$P_{-}^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta} \equiv P_{-}^{\mu\nu}P_{-}^{\alpha\beta}.\tag{D.13}$$

D.1 Spin-s projection operator

Based on the above discussion, as well as the properties of a general spin heavy field, we conjecture the projection operator for a spin-s field. An integer spin-s field $Z^{\mu_1...\mu_s}$ must be symmetric and traceless [68]. When the mass of the particle is very large, the particle component \mathcal{Z} must satisfy [69]

$$v_{\mu_1} \mathcal{Z}^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_s} = 0.$$
 (D.14)

By symmetry, this condition holds regardless of the index with which the velocity is contracted. The general spin-s projection operator for a field satisfying eq. (D.14), and which reduces to the above cases for s = 1 and s = 2 is

$$P_{-}^{\mu_{1}\nu_{1},\dots,\mu_{s}\nu_{s}} = \prod_{i=1}^{s} P_{-}^{\mu_{i}\nu_{i}}.$$
 (D.15)

The integer spin projection operator is simply a product of spin-1 projection operators.

A half-integer spin-(s + 1/2) field $\Psi^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_s}$ must be symmetric and γ -traceless [70],

$$\gamma_{\mu_1} \Psi^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_s} = 0. \tag{D.16}$$

Symmetry ensures that the condition holds for any index the γ matrix is contracted with. When the mass of the field becomes very large, its particle component Q must satisfy [69]

$$\psi \mathcal{Q}^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_s} = \mathcal{Q}^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_s}. \tag{D.17}$$

These constraints also imply, among other things, the v-tracelessness of the heavy field. The general spin-(s+1/2) projection operator that results in a field satisfying these conditions, and that reduces to the above cases for spin-1/2 and spin-3/2, is

$$P_{\frac{1}{2},-}^{\mu_1\nu_1,\dots,\mu_s\nu_s} \equiv P_+ P_-^{\mu_1\nu_1,\dots,\mu_s\nu_s}.$$
 (D.18)

From this we see that knowledge of the spin-1/2 heavy particle states is enough to construct the polarization tensors and projection operators for higher spin states. In this sense, HPETs are unified in terms of the basic building blocks in eq. (2.4).

E Matching to HPET Lagrangians

In this section, we address the matching of on-shell amplitudes to those derived from HPET Lagrangians. First, there is a subtlety that must be accounted for when matching the minimal coupling in eqs. (3.5) and (3.6) to an HPET Lagrangian. We focus the discussion of this to the case of spin-1/2 HPET. Next, we confirm explicitly that the general spin three-point amplitude derived from the Zeeman coupling in ref. [11] reproduces the amplitude derived from spin-1 abelian HQET when expressed using on-shell HPET variables.

E.1 Matching spin-1/2 minimal coupling

For any quantum field theory, the form of the Lagrangian that produces a given S-matrix is not unique: indeed the S-matrix is invariant under appropriate redefinitions of the fields composing the Lagrangian [71]. Generally, a field redefinition will alter the Green's function for a given process. To relate the Green's functions of two forms of a Lagrangian, the relation between both sets of external states must be specified. The same holds for HQET, which has been presented in various forms in the literature.

Fortunately, the definition of the heavy spinors in eq. (2.3) specifies for us the form of the spin-1/2 HPET Lagrangian whose external spinors are expressible as such. By inverting

eq. (2.3), we see that the field redefinition converting the full theory to its HPET form must reduce to

$$\psi(x) = e^{-imv \cdot x} \left[\frac{1+\psi}{2} + \frac{1-\psi}{2} \frac{1}{iv \cdot \partial + 2m} i \phi \right] Q_v(x), \tag{E.1}$$

in the free-field limit. For spin-1/2 HQET, this means we must match the minimal coupling to the Lagrangian in the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{HQET}}^{s=\frac{1}{2}} = \bar{Q}iv \cdot DQ + \bar{Q}i\not\!\!DP_{-}\frac{1}{2m + iv \cdot D}i\not\!\!DQ.$$
(E.2)

This form of the Lagrangian appears in e.g. ref. [51], and differs from the forms in refs. [38, 72] by the presence of a projection operator in the non-local term. The Lagrangian of HBET presented in ref. [38] must similarly be modified to compare to the minimal coupling amplitude. The suitable form for spin-1/2 HBET is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{HBET}}^{s=\frac{1}{2}} = \sqrt{-g}\bar{Q}i\mathcal{D}Q + \frac{\sqrt{-g}}{2m}\bar{Q}i\mathcal{D}P_{-}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}G_{n}[h]\frac{F[h]^{n}}{m^{n}}i\mathcal{D}Q,$$
(E.3a)

where

$$i\mathcal{D} \equiv ie^{\mu}{}_{a}\gamma^{a} D_{\mu} + mv_{\mu}\gamma^{a}(e^{\mu}{}_{a} - \delta^{\mu}_{a}), \qquad (E.3b)$$

and all other notation is described in ref. [38].

E.2 Matching spin-1 Zeeman coupling

We demonstrate explicitly the applicability of the on-shell HPET variables to spin-1 heavy particle systems. To do so, we will show that the same variables are suitable for describing the three-point amplitude arising from the Proca action. First, we note that a massive spin-1 particle described by the Proca action has a gyromagnetic ratio g = 1 [42]. As such, it should not be expected that the corresponding three-point amplitude matches with the minimal coupling amplitude for s = 1. To understand which three-point amplitude we should match with, we recast the three-point amplitude derived from the Zeeman coupling in ref. [11] into on-shell HPET variables (with $k_1 = 0$):

$$\mathcal{A}^{+,s} = \frac{g_0 x}{m^{2s}} \left[\langle \mathbf{2}_v \mathbf{1}_v \rangle^{2s} + x \frac{sg}{2m} \langle \mathbf{2}_v \mathbf{1}_v \rangle^{2s-1} \langle \mathbf{2}_v 3 \rangle \langle 3\mathbf{1}_v \rangle + \dots \right], \tag{E.4}$$

where the dots represent higher spin multipoles. When g = 2 we recover the spin-dipole term from 2s factors of the spin-1/2 minimal coupling amplitude. Setting s = g = 1 for the Proca action,

$$\mathcal{A}^{+,1} = \frac{g_0 x}{m^2} \left[\langle \mathbf{2}_v \mathbf{1}_v \rangle^2 + \frac{x}{2m} \langle \mathbf{2}_v \mathbf{1}_v \rangle \langle \mathbf{2}_v 3 \rangle \langle 3 \mathbf{1}_v \rangle + \dots \right].$$
(E.5)

This is the three-point amplitude that we expect from a very heavy spin-1 Proca particle.

Consider now the Proca Lagrangian for a massive vector field B^{μ} coupled to electromagnetism:

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4}F^*_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}m^2 B^*_{\mu}B^{\mu}, \qquad (E.6a)$$

where

$$F^{\mu\nu} = D^{\mu}B^{\nu} - D^{\nu}B^{\mu}, \quad D^{\mu}B^{\nu} = (\partial^{\mu} + ieA^{\mu})B^{\nu},$$
 (E.6b)

and A^{μ} is the U(1) gauge field. We now need a condition that splits the light component \mathcal{B}^{μ} from the heavy (anti-field) component $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}^{\mu}$. Furthermore, the light component has to satisfy $v_{\mu}\mathcal{B}^{\mu} = 0$ [69]. The appropriate decomposition of the massive vector field is

$$\mathcal{B}^{\mu} = e^{imv \cdot x} P_{-}^{\mu\nu} B_{\nu}, \qquad (E.7a)$$

$$\tilde{\mathcal{B}}^{\mu} = e^{imv \cdot x} P^{\mu\nu}_{+} B_{\nu}, \qquad (E.7b)$$

where $P_{-}^{\mu\nu} \equiv g^{\mu\nu} - v^{\mu}v^{\nu}$ — this is the projection operator that has been derived explicitly in appendix D — and $P_{+}^{\mu\nu} \equiv v^{\mu}v^{\nu}$. Next, we substitute eq. (E.7) into the Proca Lagrangian, and integrate out $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}^{\mu}$ using its equation of motion to find

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{HQET}}^{s=1} = -m\mathcal{B}_{\mu}^{*}(iv \cdot D)\mathcal{B}^{\mu} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{B}_{\mu\nu}^{*}\mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{B}_{\nu}^{*}D^{\nu}D_{\mu}\mathcal{B}^{\mu} + \mathcal{O}(m^{-1}), \qquad (E.8)$$

where $\mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu} = D^{\mu}\mathcal{B}^{\nu} - D^{\nu}\mathcal{B}^{\mu}$. Computing the three-point amplitude with this Lagrangian for $k_1 = 0$ and expressing it using on-shell HPET variables, we find agreement with eq. (E.5) for $g_0 = -em/\sqrt{2}$. This supports the hypothesis that the on-shell information of spin-1/2 HPET is sufficient to extend HPETs to higher spins.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- LIGO SCIENTIFIC and VIRGO collaborations, Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Black Hole Merger, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 061102 [arXiv:1602.03837]
 [INSPIRE].
- [2] J.F. Donoghue, Leading quantum correction to the Newtonian potential, Phys. Rev. Lett. 72 (1994) 2996 [gr-qc/9310024] [INSPIRE].
- J.F. Donoghue, General relativity as an effective field theory: The leading quantum corrections, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 3874 [gr-qc/9405057] [INSPIRE].
- [4] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, J.F. Donoghue and B.R. Holstein, Quantum gravitational corrections to the nonrelativistic scattering potential of two masses, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 084033 [Erratum ibid. D 71 (2005) 069903] [hep-th/0211072] [INSPIRE].
- [5] B.R. Holstein and A. Ross, *Spin Effects in Long Range Gravitational Scattering*, arXiv:0802.0716 [INSPIRE].
- [6] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, J.F. Donoghue and P. Vanhove, On-shell Techniques and Universal Results in Quantum Gravity, JHEP 02 (2014) 111 [arXiv:1309.0804] [INSPIRE].
- [7] D. Neill and I.Z. Rothstein, Classical Space-Times from the S Matrix, Nucl. Phys. B 877 (2013) 177 [arXiv:1304.7263] [INSPIRE].

- [8] V. Vaidya, Gravitational spin Hamiltonians from the S matrix, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 024017 [arXiv:1410.5348] [INSPIRE].
- [9] F. Cachazo and A. Guevara, Leading Singularities and Classical Gravitational Scattering, JHEP 02 (2020) 181 [arXiv:1705.10262] [INSPIRE].
- [10] A. Guevara, Holomorphic Classical Limit for Spin Effects in Gravitational and Electromagnetic Scattering, JHEP 04 (2019) 033 [arXiv:1706.02314] [INSPIRE].
- [11] M.-Z. Chung, Y.-T. Huang, J.-W. Kim and S. Lee, The simplest massive S-matrix: from minimal coupling to Black Holes, JHEP 04 (2019) 156 [arXiv:1812.08752] [INSPIRE].
- [12] W.D. Goldberger and I.Z. Rothstein, An Effective field theory of gravity for extended objects, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 104029 [hep-th/0409156] [INSPIRE].
- [13] R.A. Porto, Post-Newtonian corrections to the motion of spinning bodies in NRGR, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 104031 [gr-qc/0511061] [INSPIRE].
- [14] M. Levi and J. Steinhoff, Spinning gravitating objects in the effective field theory in the post-Newtonian scheme, JHEP 09 (2015) 219 [arXiv:1501.04956] [INSPIRE].
- [15] R.A. Porto, The effective field theorist's approach to gravitational dynamics, Phys. Rept. 633 (2016) 1 [arXiv:1601.04914] [INSPIRE].
- [16] M. Levi, Effective Field Theories of Post-Newtonian Gravity: A comprehensive review, arXiv:1807.01699 [INSPIRE].
- S. Foffa and R. Sturani, Conservative dynamics of binary systems to fourth Post-Newtonian order in the EFT approach I: Regularized Lagrangian, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 024047
 [arXiv:1903.05113] [INSPIRE].
- [18] S. Foffa, R.A. Porto, I. Rothstein and R. Sturani, Conservative dynamics of binary systems to fourth Post-Newtonian order in the EFT approach II: Renormalized Lagrangian, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 024048 [arXiv:1903.05118] [INSPIRE].
- [19] J. Blümlein, A. Maier and P. Marquard, Five-Loop Static Contribution to the Gravitational Interaction Potential of Two Point Masses, Phys. Lett. B 800 (2020) 135100
 [arXiv:1902.11180] [INSPIRE].
- [20] S. Foffa, P. Mastrolia, R. Sturani, C. Sturm and W.J. Torres Bobadilla, Static two-body potential at fifth post-Newtonian order, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122** (2019) 241605 [arXiv:1902.10571] [INSPIRE].
- [21] M. Levi and J. Steinhoff, Next-to-next-to-leading order gravitational spin-squared potential via the effective field theory for spinning objects in the post-Newtonian scheme, JCAP 01 (2016) 008 [arXiv:1506.05794] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Levi, S. Mougiakakos and M. Vieira, *Gravitational cubic-in-spin interaction at the next-to-leading post-Newtonian order*, arXiv:1912.06276 [INSPIRE].
- [23] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P.H. Damgaard, G. Festuccia, L. Planté and P. Vanhove, General Relativity from Scattering Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 171601
 [arXiv:1806.04920] [INSPIRE].
- [24] C. Cheung, I.Z. Rothstein and M.P. Solon, From Scattering Amplitudes to Classical Potentials in the Post-Minkowskian Expansion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 251101
 [arXiv:1808.02489] [INSPIRE].

- [25] A. Guevara, A. Ochirov and J. Vines, Scattering of Spinning Black Holes from Exponentiated Soft Factors, JHEP 09 (2019) 056 [arXiv:1812.06895] [INSPIRE].
- [26] Z. Bern, C. Cheung, R. Roiban, C.-H. Shen, M.P. Solon and M. Zeng, Scattering Amplitudes and the Conservative Hamiltonian for Binary Systems at Third Post-Minkowskian Order, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **122** (2019) 201603 [arXiv:1901.04424] [INSPIRE].
- [27] Z. Bern, C. Cheung, R. Roiban, C.-H. Shen, M.P. Solon and M. Zeng, Black Hole Binary Dynamics from the Double Copy and Effective Theory, JHEP 10 (2019) 206 [arXiv:1908.01493] [INSPIRE].
- [28] A. Cristofoli, N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P.H. Damgaard and P. Vanhove, Post-Minkowskian Hamiltonians in general relativity, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 084040 [arXiv:1906.01579] [INSPIRE].
- [29] A. Cristofoli, Post-Minkowskian Hamiltonians in Modified Theories of Gravity, Phys. Lett. B 800 (2020) 135095 [arXiv:1906.05209] [INSPIRE].
- [30] D.A. Kosower, B. Maybee and D. O'Connell, Amplitudes, Observables and Classical Scattering, JHEP 02 (2019) 137 [arXiv:1811.10950] [INSPIRE].
- [31] B. Maybee, D. O'Connell and J. Vines, Observables and amplitudes for spinning particles and black holes, JHEP 12 (2019) 156 [arXiv:1906.09260] [INSPIRE].
- [32] A. Guevara, A. Ochirov and J. Vines, Black-hole scattering with general spin directions from minimal-coupling amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 104024 [arXiv:1906.10071]
 [INSPIRE].
- [33] T. Damour, Gravitational scattering, post-Minkowskian approximation and Effective One-Body theory, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 104015 [arXiv:1609.00354] [INSPIRE].
- [34] T. Damour, High-energy gravitational scattering and the general relativistic two-body problem, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 044038 [arXiv:1710.10599] [INSPIRE].
- [35] G. Kälin and R.A. Porto, From Boundary Data to Bound States, JHEP **01** (2020) 072 [arXiv:1910.03008] [INSPIRE].
- [36] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, A. Cristofoli and P.H. Damgaard, Post-Minkowskian Scattering Angle in Einstein Gravity, arXiv:1910.09366 [INSPIRE].
- [37] B.R. Holstein and J.F. Donoghue, Classical physics and quantum loops, Phys. Rev. Lett. 93 (2004) 201602 [hep-th/0405239] [INSPIRE].
- [38] P.H. Damgaard, K. Haddad and A. Helset, *Heavy Black Hole Effective Theory*, JHEP 11 (2019) 070 [arXiv:1908.10308] [INSPIRE].
- [39] N. Arkani-Hamed, T.-C. Huang and Y.-T. Huang, Scattering Amplitudes For All Masses and Spins, arXiv:1709.04891 [INSPIRE].
- [40] E. Conde and A. Marzolla, Lorentz Constraints on Massive Three-Point Amplitudes, JHEP 09 (2016) 041 [arXiv:1601.08113] [INSPIRE].
- [41] E. Conde, E. Joung and K. Mkrtchyan, Spinor-Helicity Three-Point Amplitudes from Local Cubic Interactions, JHEP 08 (2016) 040 [arXiv:1605.07402] [INSPIRE].
- B.R. Holstein, How Large is the 'natural' magnetic moment?, Am. J. Phys. 74 (2006) 1104 [hep-ph/0607187] [INSPIRE].
- [43] S. Ferrara, M. Porrati and V.L. Telegdi, g = 2 as the natural value of the tree-level gyromagnetic ratio of elementary particles, *Phys. Rev.* D 46 (1992) 3529 [INSPIRE].

- [44] N. Arkani-Hamed, Y.-T. Huang and D. O'Connell, Kerr black holes as elementary particles, JHEP 01 (2020) 046 [arXiv:1906.10100] [INSPIRE].
- [45] M.-Z. Chung, Y.-T. Huang and J.-W. Kim, *Classical potential for general spinning bodies*, arXiv:1908.08463 [INSPIRE].
- [46] H. Georgi, An Effective Field Theory for Heavy Quarks at Low-energies, Phys. Lett. B 240 (1990) 447 [INSPIRE].
- [47] G.T. Bodwin, E. Braaten and G.P. Lepage, Rigorous QCD analysis of inclusive annihilation and production of heavy quarkonium, Phys. Rev. D 51 (1995) 1125 [Erratum ibid. D 55 (1997) 5853] [hep-ph/9407339] [INSPIRE].
- [48] M. Neubert, Heavy quark effective theory, Subnucl. Ser. 34 (1997) 98 [hep-ph/9610266]
 [INSPIRE].
- [49] M. Finkemeier, H. Georgi and M. McIrvin, Reparametrization invariance revisited, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 6933 [hep-ph/9701243] [INSPIRE].
- [50] M.E. Luke and A.V. Manohar, Reparametrization invariance constraints on heavy particle effective field theories, Phys. Lett. B 286 (1992) 348 [hep-ph/9205228] [INSPIRE].
- [51] Y.-Q. Chen, On the reparametrization invariance in heavy quark effective theory, Phys. Lett. B 317 (1993) 421 [INSPIRE].
- [52] W. Tulczyjew, Motion of multipole particles in general relativity theory, Acta Phys. Pol 18 (1959) 393.
- [53] J. Vines, Scattering of two spinning black holes in post-Minkowskian gravity, to all orders in spin and effective-one-body mappings, Class. Quant. Grav. 35 (2018) 084002
 [arXiv:1709.06016] [INSPIRE].
- [54] M.-Z. Chung, Y.-T. Huang and J.-W. Kim, Kerr-Newman stress-tensor from minimal coupling to all orders in spin, arXiv:1911.12775 [INSPIRE].
- [55] B.R. Holstein and A. Ross, Spin Effects in Long Range Electromagnetic Scattering, arXiv:0802.0715 [INSPIRE].
- [56] R. Britto, F. Cachazo and B. Feng, New recursion relations for tree amplitudes of gluons, Nucl. Phys. B 715 (2005) 499 [hep-th/0412308] [INSPIRE].
- [57] R. Britto, F. Cachazo, B. Feng and E. Witten, Direct proof of tree-level recursion relation in Yang-Mills theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94 (2005) 181602 [hep-th/0501052] [INSPIRE].
- [58] R. Aoude and C.S. Machado, The Rise of SMEFT On-shell Amplitudes, JHEP 12 (2019) 058 [arXiv:1905.11433] [INSPIRE].
- [59] S.Y. Choi, J.S. Shim and H.S. Song, Factorization and polarization in linearized gravity, Phys. Rev. D 51 (1995) 2751 [hep-th/9411092] [INSPIRE].
- [60] Z. Bern, Perturbative quantum gravity and its relation to gauge theory, Living Rev. Rel. 5 (2002) 5 [gr-qc/0206071] [INSPIRE].
- [61] Y.F. Bautista and A. Guevara, From Scattering Amplitudes to Classical Physics: Universality, Double Copy and Soft Theorems, arXiv:1903.12419 [INSPIRE].
- [62] R. Kleiss and W.J. Stirling, Spinor Techniques for Calculating $p\bar{p} \rightarrow W^{\pm}/Z^{0} + jets$, Nucl. Phys. **B 262** (1985) 235 [INSPIRE].

- [63] D.A. Kosower, Next-to-maximal helicity violating amplitudes in gauge theory, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 045007 [hep-th/0406175] [INSPIRE].
- [64] G. Durieux, T. Kitahara, Y. Shadmi and Y. Weiss, The electroweak effective field theory from on-shell amplitudes, JHEP 01 (2020) 119 [arXiv:1909.10551] [INSPIRE].
- [65] R.E. Behrends and C. Fronsdal, Fermi Decay of Higher Spin Particles, Phys. Rev. 106 (1957) 345 [INSPIRE].
- [66] H.T. Williams, Misconceptions regarding spin 3/2, Phys. Rev. C 31 (1985) 2297 [INSPIRE].
- [67] K. Hinterbichler, Theoretical Aspects of Massive Gravity, Rev. Mod. Phys. 84 (2012) 671 [arXiv:1105.3735] [INSPIRE].
- [68] L.P.S. Singh and C.R. Hagen, Lagrangian formulation for arbitrary spin. 1. The boson case, Phys. Rev. D 9 (1974) 898 [INSPIRE].
- [69] J. Heinonen, R.J. Hill and M.P. Solon, Lorentz invariance in heavy particle effective theories, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 094020 [arXiv:1208.0601] [INSPIRE].
- [70] L.P.S. Singh and C.R. Hagen, Lagrangian formulation for arbitrary spin. 2. The fermion case, Phys. Rev. D 9 (1974) 910 [INSPIRE].
- [71] A.V. Manohar, Introduction to Effective Field Theories, in proceedings of the Les Houches summer school: EFT in Particle Physics and Cosmology, Les Houches, Chamonix Valley, France, 3–28 July 2017, arXiv:1804.05863 [INSPIRE].
- [72] A.V. Manohar, The HQET/NRQCD Lagrangian to order α_s/m^3 , Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 230 [hep-ph/9701294] [INSPIRE].
- [73] A. Brandhuber and G. Travaglini, On higher-derivative effects on the gravitational potential and particle bending, JHEP 01 (2020) 010 [arXiv:1905.05657] [INSPIRE].
- [74] M. Accettulli Huber, A. Brandhuber, S. De Angelis and G. Travaglini, Note on the absence of R² corrections to Newton's potential, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 046011
 [arXiv:1911.10108] [INSPIRE].